
The Mission of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is to protect public health and our environment, providing effective wastewater 
collection, treatment, and resource recovery. 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

 BOARD MEETING AGENDA 

June 20, 2024 

MATERIALS RELATED TO ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

PUBLIC INSPECTION DURING NORMAL BUSINESS HOURS AT THE DISTRICT 

OFFICE, 101 LUCAS VALLEY ROAD, SUITE 300, SAN RAFAEL, OR ON THE DISTRICT 

WEBSITE  WWW.LGVSD.ORG 

OPEN SESSION: 

1. PUBLIC COMMENT

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on matters not on the

agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District. Presentations are generally

limited to three minutes. All matters requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or

placed on a future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting.

2. PUBLIC HEARING -  BUDGET FOR THE 2024-2025 FISCAL YEAR

A. OPEN PUBLIC HEARING 

B. BUDGET 2024-2025 PRESENTATION: 

District staff to present the following proposed budgets for Fiscal Year July 1, 2024 to 
June 30, 2025: 

a. Revenue
b. Operating and Maintenance
c. Reserves
d. Debt Service
e. Capital Outlay

C. REVIEW DISTRICT STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS: 

Board to consider staff recommendation to approve the  2024-2025  Budget as proposed. 

D. PUBLIC COMMENT: 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for people desiring to address the Board regarding the 
proposed Budget.  Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. 

E. CLOSE THE PUBLIC HEARING: 

Board to close the public hearing. 

4:00 PM 

Estimated 
Time 

4:05 PM 

1

http://www.lgvsd.org/


June 20, 2024 Page 2 of 4 
  

  

  
 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 
 

F. BOARD DETERMINATION AND ACTION 

Board to consider comments from public, review administrative record and make determination 
regarding action to approve the proposed Budgets. 

3. RESOLUTIONS 

Resolutions necessary to effectuate transmittal of the District’s assessment roll to and acceptance by the 
Marin County Tax Collector for collection pursuant to Health & Safety Code Sec. 6760. 

 
 

A. RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2331– A RESOLUTION CONFIRMING THE ANNUAL SEWER SERVICE 
CHARGE AND SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE CHARGES FOR THE LAS GALLINAS VALLEY 
SANITARY DISTRICT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-25 AND PROVIDING FOR THE 
COLLECTION OF SEWER SERVICE CHARGES ON THE TAX ROLL. 

B. RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2332 – A RESOLUTION FIXING AND APPROVING THE BUDGET FOR 
THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025. 

C. RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2333 –  A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 
APPROPRIATION OF TAX PROCEEDS. 

D. RESOLUTION NO. 2024-2334– A RESOLUTION REQUESTING ALLOCATION OF TAXES FOR 
THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025. 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

These items are considered routine and will be enacted, approved or adopted by one motion  

unless a request for removal for discussion or explanation is received from the staff or the Board. 

A. Approve the Board Minutes for May 30th and June 6, 2024 

B. Receive and Ratify the Check Warrant List 

C. Approve Board Compensation for May 2024 

D. Approve Clark attending the 2024 WateReuse Conference Sept 15-17 in Garden Grove 

E. Approve Nitzberg attending the CASA Annual Conference July 31-Aug 2 in Monterey 

F. Approve Nitzberg attending the CSDA Annual Conference September 9 -12 in Indian  Wells 

G. Approve Nitzberg attending the SDLF Academy November 3-6 in San Rafael 

H. Approve Contract for Laboratory Information Management System Software 

I. Approve Award of Contract for Biosolids Application Services 

J. Approve 2024 Summer Newsletter 

 

Possible expenditure of funds:  Yes, Item B through J. 

Staff recommendation:  Adopt Consent Calendar – Items A through J. 

 

5. INFORMATION ITEMS: 

STAFF/CONSULTANT REPORTS: 

1. General Manager’s Report – verbal 

 

 

 

 

4:55 PM 

 

4:35 PM 
 

4:45 PM 
 
 

 

2



June 20, 2024 Page 3 of 4 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

6. BOARD MEMBER REPORTS:

1. CLARK
a. NBWA Board Committee, Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee,
CASA Workforce Committee, Other Reports

2. MURRAY
a. Marin LAFCo, Flood Zone 6, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, CASA Energy Committee,

Development Ad Hoc Committee,  San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

3. NITZBERG
a. Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee,

Fleet Management Ad Hoc Committee,  McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee
San Francisco Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

4. ROBARDS
a. Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA,  Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,

McInnis Marsh Ad Hoc Committee,  Development Ad Hoc Committee,
FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports

5. YEZMAN
a. Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Committee  re: STPURWE,

Marin Special Districts,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee,
Other Reports

7. BOARD REQUESTS:
A. Board Meeting Attendance Requests – Verbal

B. Board Agenda Item Requests – Verbal

8. VARIOUS INDUSTRY RELATED ARTICLES

CLOSED SESSION: 

9. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION – Significant exposure
to litigation pursuant to subdivision (b) of Gov. Code Section 54956.9 - One potential case.

10. ADJOURNMENT

5:30  PM 

6:15  PM 

5:35 PM 

5:15 PM 

5:45 PM 

3



June 20, 2024 Page 4 of 4 

101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300  •  San Rafael, CA  94903  •  415.472.1734  •  Fax 415.499.7715  •  
www.lgvsd.org 

FUTURE BOARD MEETINGS JULY 18 AND AUGUST 15, 2024 

CERTIFICATION:  I, Teresa Lerch, Board Secretary of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, hereby 
declare under penalty of perjury that on or before June 17, 4:00 p.m., I posted the Agenda for the Board 
Meeting of said Board to be held on June 20, 2024 at the District Office, located at 101 Lucas Valley Road, 
Suite 300, San Rafael, CA. 

DATED: June 13, 2024 

_______________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch 
Board Secretary 

 _________________________________________________________________  

The Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District meets regularly on the first and third Thursday of  
each month. The District may also schedule additional special meetings for the purpose of completing unfinished 
business and/or study session. Regular meetings are held at the District Office, 101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San 
Rafael, CA.  

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this meeting, 
please contact the District at (415) 472-1734 at least 24 hours prior to the meeting. Notification  
prior to the meeting will enable the District to make reasonable accommodation to help ensure accessibility  
to this meeting.

AGENDA APPROVED: Craig K. Murray, President Patrick Richardson  Legal Counsel 

4



 

 
 

 

6/20/2024 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons desiring to address the Board on 

matters not on the agenda and within the jurisdiction of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District. Presentations are generally limited to three minutes. All matters 

requiring a response will be referred to staff for reply in writing and/or placed on a 

future meeting agenda. Please contact the General Manager before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA ITEM 1 

5



X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Budget\ASR Proposed Budget  6-20-24.docx Page 1 of 4 

Agenda Summary Report

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
(415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 

Meeting Date: June 20, 2024 
Re: Public Hearing – Proposed Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget 
Item Type:   Consent  Action    X  Information   Other         

Standard Contract:    Yes     No (See attached) Not Applicable      X        

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget. 

BACKGROUND 
Staff has been meeting since February 2024 to develop the budget for Fiscal Year (“FY”) 2024-
2025. The Board held a workshop on May 6, 2024 and provided feedback to staff on priorities of 
the District. A preliminary budget was prepared and presented to the Board and public on May 16, 
2024. Revenue, operating expenses, reserves, and capital expenditures based on the above 
meetings have been updated to reflect the current financial position of the District.  

The Sewer Service Charge (“SSC”) base rate has been set at $1,356 per sanitary unit effective 
July 1, 2024. The rate increase is projected to provide $2,183,463 in additional revenue over the 
prior fiscal year. SSC revenue of $20,866,010 is the primary source of revenue bringing in 82% of 
the revenue in FY 2024-2025.  

Summary of Changes 
During the review of the preliminary budget on May 16, the Board discussed and provided 
comments to staff. Board and public input were solicited. Highlights of the changes between the 
initial preliminary budget and proposed budget were discussed. Below is a summary of the results 
of the discussion and changes since the preliminary budget as presented:  

1. Sewer Service Charge revenue reduced $245K as a more detailed analysis of non-
residential water use was completed at the end of May.

2. Capital Facilities Charge (“CFC”) revenue lowered, from $455K to $320K. Revenue
expected in future years will be higher when developers pay their CFC fees once the Marin
County and the City of San Rafael approve construction.

3. SCADA Engineering Support was increased $25K to $98K.

4. North Bay Water Reuse Authority (“NBWRA”) resilience arena feasibility studies for
drought contingency and sea level-rise adaptation have been carried forward into FY 2024-
2025, estimated at $32K. However there remains an outstanding invoice for FY 2023-2024
services and NBWRA must still adopt their budget for FY 2024-2025. Sonoma Water will

Item Number________2______ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

6



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Budget\ASR Proposed Budget  6-20-24.docx Page 2 of 4 

 

still administer the program on behalf of regional member agencies. The feasibility studies 
budget line item was increased from $10K to $74K. 

5. Biosolids land application will be an Operating & Maintenance (“O&M”) expense and be 
reported under the State’s Financial Transaction Report as a solids waste disposal cost, 
remaining consistent with prior year reported sludge injection and land disposal 
expenditures. The Biosolids Program Monitoring Research Support & Flood Protection 
program and related study research remains under the Capital Outlay budget. 

6. The John Duckett Pump Station and Highway 101 Terra Linda Trunk Sewer Project scope 
of work has been reduced. Design costs have been lowered from $750K to $450K. The 
Terra Linda Highway 101 Undercrossing has been separated into its own sewer lining 
project. Funding has been included in the O&M budget for a financial advisor to look at the 
most practical options to fund this project for construction in late 2025 or 2026. 

7. Center Pivot Replacement project has been split into three projects, with Center Pivot #3 
and #4 budgeted for FY 2024-2025 and Pivot #5 planned for FY 2025-2026. 

8. Secondary Effluent Line Modification project approved by the Board was added to the 
Capital Outlay budget for FY 2024-2025. 

9. Three minor projects not completed in FY 2023-2024 rolled forward to FY 2024-2025 and 
funded from Prior Year CIP Carryover: 1) Existing Secondary Clarifier Removal, 2) Anoxic 
Basin Coating and Waterproofing, and 3) Chlorine Contact Basin Access Manhole 
Extension. 

 
Board Policy 
Board policy requires the District to maintain a balanced budget and to disclose deviations from a 
balanced budget when it occurs. The proposed budget will be balanced with the identified shortfall 
to be funded from the unrestricted working capital (cash) balance. Unrestricted capital is held in 
the Bank of Marin operating account, in the State’s Local Agency Investment Fund (“LAIF”), and 
in California Cooperative Liquid Assets Securities System (“California CLASS”). The unrestricted 
capital balance as of June 30, 2024 is projected to be $14.4M, which includes prior year (“PY”) 
Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) carryover funds. 
 
Proposed Budget 
The proposed budget projects receiving $38,565,620 from all revenue sources and utilization of 
reserves. Expenses including capital outlay and debt service is budgeted at $41,127,060. The 
District is projected to spend $2,561,440 more than what will be brought in in the upcoming FY. 
The District will draw down its unrestricted working cash capital balance to cover this shortfall. 
Based on the preliminary budget unrestricted working cash balance at the end of FY June 30, 
2025 is forecast to be $34,952. 
 
Highlights of the Proposed Budget 

 Rising operation and maintenance expenses are expected to continue into 2025. The 
Consumer Price Index (“CPI-U”) as of April 2024 increased 3.8% over the last 12-months. 
The proposed budget includes inflation factors between 1.0% and 6% for various 
expenditures with some outliers, like energy and chemical costs, calculated based on 
higher actuals. 

 

7



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Budget\ASR Proposed Budget  6-20-24.docx Page 3 of 4 

 
 
 

 The Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water Expansion (“STPURWE”) 
project is complete with formal Notice of Completion to be filed once final accounting of the 
project has been completed. The assets associated with the STPURWE project will be 
reclassified as an infrastructure improvement and added to the District’s financial 
statements as depreciable assets in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2024. A capitalization 
and depreciation report will be completed alongside the independent audit scheduled for 
October 2024. A total of $22K has been added to the FY 2024-2025 budget for closeout 
costs and financial reporting assistance related to this project. Any additional close out 
costs associated with the project after June 30, 2024 will require separate Board action.  
 

 Employee wages and benefits have risen over recent years as staff positions have been 
added. The proposed budget shows salary percentage change over the prior year budget 
at 16.55% but the actual percentage change over the actuals for FY 2023-2024 is 
projected at 10.13%. Included in employee wages for FY 2024-2025 are budget expenses 
of $60,000 for one Full-Time Equivalent, or two part-time staff positions, which would be 
created for an “Operator-In-Training” apprenticeship program to begin supporting the 
treatment plant operations in late 2024. 
 

 Inter-Governmental revenue from Marin Municipal Water District (“MMWD”) is expected to 
increase in 2024-2025 by $242K due to a one-time cost share adjustment for the additional 
costs of the STPURWE project. Staff from both MMWD and LGVSD will meet in late 2024 
to determine the actual cost-share adjustment. 
 

 Build-up of reserves is an important tool to provide financing safeguards for the District’s 
operations. The budget proposes allocating $2,477,793 to reserve funding in FY 2024-
2025. The District requires reserves for operations and capital needs. Such funds are 
available for extraordinary expenses and to fund cash flow. In addition, reserve fund 
investments generate earnings to supplement other revenues. 

 
 Debt Service Coverage Ratio (“DSCR”) for 2024-2025 is projected to be 2.26 based on 

slightly lower net operating income forecast. It remains above the minimum DSCR required 
by the 2017 Bond covenants. The Hildebrand Consulting 2023 Sewer Rate Study 
recommended maintaining a DSCR of at least 1.5 to ensure access to favorable borrowing 
terms in the future. 

 
Capital Outlay Budget 

The Capital Outlay Budget for FY 2024-2025 identifies funding sources for identified capital 
projects planned for in the upcoming FY. The Capital Outlay Budget comprises 48% of the total 
budget with most projects committed to and funded in prior years. New and ongoing capital 
projects are identified in the budget and are primarily funded from unrestricted funds, property tax 
revenue and sewer service charges. As part of the budget process, management considers need, 
risk, and want in the prioritization of projects.  

 

 

8



 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Budget\ASR Proposed Budget  6-20-24.docx Page 4 of 4 

 

Capital Improvement Program (CIP) 

The District has an aggressive CIP which has been expanded to 7-years to capture future 
biosolids and sea-level rise projects anticipated to occur between 2028 through 2031. It was 
developed based on Board priorities, risk assessment, and recommended projects.  

There are no financed projects in FY 2024-2025. Financed projects are set to resume in FY 2025-
2026 with the John Duckett Pump Station and Terra Linda Truck Sewer Creek project, 
construction of the Multi-Use Laboratory/Education Center/Boardroom building, and Corporation 
Yard construction projects. A financial advisor will help determine the best method of debt 
issuance to undertake for these upcoming projects. 

Additional debt funding or reprioritizing of projects will be required as the District will not have 
enough cash funding to complete the $38M in capital projects identified in FY 2027-2028. A new 
Sewer Rate Study will be undertaken in late 2026 and will include a multi-year financial plan that 
incorporates the District’s operational and capital projects funding needs. 

Summary 

The total budget increased $178,101 from the budget presented on May 16, 2024. 
 
There were only slight adjustments made to various operating and maintenance budget line items 
since May 16, resulting in an overall O&M budget increase of $198K. Forecasted Sewer Service 
Charge revenue decreased $245K as a more detailed analysis of non-residential water use was 
completed at the end of May. Reserve funding proposed is lower and authorization of $500K in 
capital reserves for use towards the Corporation Yard Design project has been added to the 
budget.  
 
Please see the attached Proposed Budget report and financial schedules for details.  
 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On June 30, 2023, the Board approved the budget for FY 2023-2024. 
 
Resolution No. 2024-2328, approved on May 16, 2024, set the public hearing for the Fiscal Year 
2024-2025 Budget. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The proposed budget of $41,127,060 is balanced. Revenue of $25,568,312 along with utilization 
of carryover and reserves funds of $12,997,308 provide most of the revenue required for the 
upcoming fiscal year. The balance is covered by allocating $2,561,440 of unrestricted working 
capital to the budget. 
 
Attachment: 

A. Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

9



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Proposed Budget 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

June 20, 2024 

 
 

    

10



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Left Intentionally Blank  

 
  

11



 

 

 

June 20, 2024 
 
To the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 
 
The management staff of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District or LGVSD”) is pleased 
to present the Proposed LGVSD Budget for the upcoming 2024-2025 fiscal year. The Proposed 
budget includes the latest data on revenue projections, expense forecasts, debt service 
requirements, reserve funding, and capital outlay expenditures.  
 
District Policy F-40-10 (Budget Preparation) requires that the General Manager and 
Administrative Services Manager prepare an annual budget proposal. The proposed annual 
budget, as amended by the Board during its review, shall be adopted at a regular meeting in June. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The District must provide enough revenue to cover the cost of providing sanitary sewer collection, 
treatment, and recycled water service including the costs of acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, maintenance, repairs, replacement and operation of the sanitary sewer systems 
and the payment of principal and interest on bonds or other debt instruments issued for the 
construction or reconstruction of the sanitary sewer systems.  Operating revenue includes sewer 
service charges collected, revenue from the production of recycled water, and revenue from 
permit and inspection fees related to development-related sewer system improvements of the 
collection system. Non-operating revenue, which supplements operating revenue, includes 
property taxes, interest, franchise fees, and other pass-thru reimbursement revenue. Capital 
contributions, grants, and the utilization of bond funds and reserves round out the revenue 
sources for the District. The District is anticipating $41,127,060 in total funding for 2024-2025 with 
$25,568,312 coming from revenue and $15,558,748 from prior year capital carryover, reserve 
funds, and unrestricted cash. 
 
Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) expenses are anticipated to increase over the prior year 
actuals by $1,138,600, or 8.97%. O&M expenses means the reasonable and necessary expenses 
paid or incurred for maintaining and operating the collection, treatment, and recycled water 
systems (“Systems”) of the District, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) that the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) established for 
and is used by state and local governments in the United States. O&M expenses include all 
reasonable expenses of management and repair and all other expenses necessary to maintain 
and preserve the systems of the District in good repair and working order. These include all 
administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the operation of the 
systems, such as salaries and wages of employees, overhead, the cost of permits, licenses, and 
charges to operate the system and insurance premiums. Excluded from O&M expenses are 
depreciation, replacement, obsolescence charges, reserves, and amortization of intangibles. 
O&M expenses, including employee salaries and wages, comprise 33.62% of the budget. 

12



 

 

 
Debt service requirements are $4,506,819 and include the 2017 Revenue Bonds and 2019 IBank 
loan. Debt service comprises 10.96% of the budget. The next debt to be paid off is the Municipal 
Finance Corporation 2005 Certificate of Participation Bond in 2026.  
 
New Reserve funding of $2,477,793 is proposed and set aside to cover scheduled, routine, and 
unscheduled expenses that would otherwise be drawn from the General Fund. Reserve funds 
may also be used for large-scale projects and improvements that are expected to happen in the 
future, such as the construction of new operations and laboratory buildings at the treatment plant 
and the John Duckett Pump Station and Trunk Sewer project. The District maintains four reserve 
funds and four restricted funds. Restricted funds are monies set aside for a particular purpose 
and $401,120 in additional funding is proposed with the budget and includes funding for the 
Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement fund required under agreement with Marin 
Municipal Water District (“MMWD”). Reserve funds are permanently restricted to that purpose 
and cannot be used for other expenses. Reserves Policy F-50 establishes and explains the 
purpose and reasons for each of the reserves established, along with target thresholds. Both the 
reserve funds and restricted funds are included in the reserve funding total, but they are different 
in that while the board can reallocate funds from reserves, while the restricted funds, such as 
Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon, serve a specific purpose and therefore their use is controlled 
by State law and agreements in place for providing service. Reserve and restricted funding 
comprise 7.0% of the budget. 
 
The Capital Outlay effort for 2024-2025 remains the primary driver of expenditures for the District 
comprising 48.43% of the total budget. The total capital outlay for the Capital Improvement 
Program (“CIP”) for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is $19,915,828. During the development of the CIP, 
review of strategic initiatives established by the Board, along with anticipated implementation of 
the Integrated Wastewater Master Plan indicate that capital improvements will remain the primary 
expense driver for the District for at least the next 10 years. The good news is that by adding to 
or improving District facilities the public materially benefits from the value and useful life of the 
assets of the District. 
 
Unused prior year Capital Outlay Carryover funds is the primary funding source for most capital 
projects in Fiscal Year 2024-2025. $12,255,708 of carryover funding is allocated for use on capital 
projects in the 2024-2025 budget. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 

Curtis Paxton        Dale McDonald 
General Manager    Administrative Services Manager 
 

  

13



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

1 
 

REVENUE	
 
Operating Revenue 
 
The District is entering its second year of a four-year Sewer Service Charge (“SSC”) rate plan. A rate increase 
of $124 annually for Single Family Residential (“SFR”) users is factored into the budget. The rate increase will 
provide $2,183,463 in additional revenue over last year. Non-residential SSC revenue is expected to decrease 
slightly as non-residential customers used less water during the measurement months resulting in lower SSCs. 
 
Recycled water revenue is the estimated cost of providing water to Marin Municipal Water District (“MMWD”) 
and North Marin Water District (“NMWD”) based on the projected recoverable costs for the year. Projections for 
revenue are based on the percentage of actual recycled water provided to MMWD and NMWD. Revenue is 
expected to increase slightly over the prior year’s actuals but remain below last year’s budgeted amount. The 
District’s Treatment Plant is utilizing more recycled water which lowers the percentage used by MMWN and 
NMWD respectively, resulting in lower operating cost recovery. 
 
Inspections, permits, and application fees reflect projected revenue from fees related to the Private Sewer Lateral 
Inspection program, lateral repairs and replacement, and applications for engineering review. The revenue is 
based on historical sales and permit data for properties within the District between 2019 and 2023. Permits 
revenue is expected to increase as private sewer lateral replacements are undertaken by property owners whose 
laterals are connected to main sewers included in the District’s Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation 
Program 2024 as a credit against SSC revenue. 
 
Non-Operating Revenue 
 
Secured property taxes are calculated based on the value of real property, land, and personal property, such as 
structures, located upon real property. Secured property is taxed at a general rate of 1% of the assessed value. 
Property tax projections for 2024-2025 are expected to be slightly higher than 2023-2024 actuals. For 2024-
2025, property tax revenue is budgeted at $1,296,090 and reflects a 4% increase over projected 2023-2024 
receipts. The District has historically identified secured property taxes as general fund revenue since the State 
puts no limitations on its use. It can, therefore, be considered a general fund that can be used for any legal 
purpose allowed by District Code and State law. The Low-Income Sewer Rate Assistance Program is funded 
from secured property tax revenue, and a total of $25,000 has been allocated to the program in 2024-2025. 
 
Prior Secured taxes, Supplemental Property Tax Assessments, and Home-Owner Property Tax Relief 
(“HOPTR”) funds are projected to rise 3.91% over last year. These are collected by the County with and at the 
same time as the secured property taxes and SSC assessment. They are reported separately as required by the 
State Controller’s Office and auditing standards. Both the 1% annual Ad-Valorem tax increase for most property 
owners and the reassessment of property value upon sale of homes are factored in the reserve assumptions. 
 
Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds (“ERAF”) are determined by State statute. Special districts are 
allocated a certain amount of property tax revenues; however, a portion is shifted from counties, cities, special 
districts, and redevelopment agencies to K-12 schools and community colleges. The District is subject to ERAF 
I and II tax shifts, which are specified by the State, using population and other factors. These factors are adjusted 
annually per the incremental growth rate in assessed property tax values. Staff has budgeted $480,510 for 2024-
2025 using the foundational basis from the ERAF revenue received in 2023-2024 and subtracting $15,124 in 
annual loss under the California Governor’s ERAF budget trailer bill submitted for the State’s 2024-2025 fiscal 

14



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

2 
 

year. Of note, Senate Budget Subcommittee 1 on Education recently rejected the Governor’s ERAF proposal. 
The issue remains fluid at the State level with any loss in excess ERAF funding due dependent on  charter school 
funding ruling and action by the legislature and Governor.  
 
The Solid Waste Franchise fee revenue is forecast based on the anticipated Marin Sanitary Service rate increase 
adopted in January of each year. The revenue is based on the agreement with the solid waste franchisee, Marin 
Sanitary Service. Higher rates due to costs related to implementation of SB 1383, the State’s organics recycling 
law, were adopted in January 2024 which has increased both revenue and pass thru expenses related to the 
solids waste collection, recycling, and organic waste programs. An incremental increase in Franchise Fee 
revenue is forecast for January 2025 and is in alignment with the recent cost-of-service Franchise Agreement 
study completed in March 2024. 
 
Interest on reserves, which are invested in the Bank of Marin, the Local Agency Investment Fund with the State 
of California, and two additional pooled investment accounts, California Cooperative Liquid Assets Security 
System (California CLASS) and California Asset Management Program (CAMP), are expected to yield lower 
returns as the interest rate remains flat after increasing last year. As the District uses accumulated funds for 
construction projects, the earnings are projected to decline in 2024-2025. 
 
The Private Sewer Lateral Assistance program began in July 2012. The budget reflects the projected direct 
repayments and annual payments to be collected on the tax roll in 2024-2025 from property owners that took 
advantage of the program to have the District pay for their sewer lateral repair or replacement. The District 
anticipates a spike in property owners taking advantage of the program due to the impact of the District’s Sewer 
Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program of 2024, resulting in additional expenses to the District this year 
with recovery of those expenses to take place over the next 10 years.  
 
The Miscellaneous revenue account allows various incidental or one-off payments to be deposited into the 
District’s operating account. Staff does not forecast a budget in this category, as they are difficult to project, but 
has included a small placeholder based on last year’s budget to assist with future accounting if needed.  
 
Capital Contributions / Capacity Related Revenue 
 
Annexation, Capital Facilities Charges (“CFC”), and Connections Fee activity for remodel permits and Accessory 
Dwelling Units (“ADUs”) has increased from prior years. CFC’s can be paid over 2 years as the project is 
developed. While the District is substantially built out and the pace of development is difficult to predict, staff are 
aware of a few large-scale development projects which are anticipated to be approved for connecting to the 
sewer system in 2024-2025. Staff is conservatively budgeting $320,420 in receipts for capital facility charges for 
2024-2025 primarily the result of the two large projects currently under development. 
 
State and local governments are looking at laws to allow additional expansion of ADUs to create more affordable 
housing and provide flexibility for families who wish to build a second unit on their property. ADUs are normally 
not subject to capacity or connection fees but can be billed a SSC depending on the size and number of units. 
A capacity fee study by HDR Engineering was completed in 2022 which, based on the cost-of-service for 
connecting to the system, adjusted the CFCs that can be imposed on development. Annexation and development 
fees are separate from the CFC connection fees. The interest income for this category is for existing CPC funds 
held on deposit, which must be expended only for capital projects that increase capacity to either the collection 
system or treatment plant. 
 

15



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

3 
 

Marin Municipal Water District (“MMWD”) entered into an agreement in March 2017, to buy into the existing 
capacity of the Recycled Water Treatment Facility as well as participating in the debt service of the 2017 Revenue 
Bonds associated with the estimated cost for the expansion of the facility. Through May 2023, the MMWD buy-
in and debt service funds were allocated to the Capital Reserves for their shared cost of the expansion project. 
Now that the project is completed, the buy-in and debt service payments received from MMWD will be allocated 
to undesignated Capital Reserves for future use by the District. In addition, per the agreement, MMWD and 
LGVSD will meet after Notice of Completion is filed to review the construction costs of the projects and adjust 
the buy-in amount based on actual final costs of the project. The Marin Municipal Water District Inter-
Governmental capital contribution revenue line item includes $242,000 in 2024-2025 as a placeholder for 
anticipated revenue from the buy-in adjustment.  
 
There is only one pending disbursement of $567,760 from the IBank loan remaining, which will be disbursed 
once the Notice of Completion for the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water (“STPURWE”) 
project is filed. The remaining funds will be returned to the general fund as STPURWE expenditures have already 
been paid. The disbursement budgeted is reflected in the Other category on the charts on the following pages. 
 
Federal and State grants may become available for wastewater infrastructure projects, but no specific grant has 
been identified let alone secured. The District has contracted with a consultant to pursue alternative funding and 
is in process of hiring a staff person to pursue and manage grants, and is collaborating with partner agencies, 
such as North Bay Water Reuse Authority, to investigate grant opportunities. It is wise for the District to design 
construction-ready projects to take advantage of any grants that become available, but it would not be prudent 
to anticipate revenue from grants at this time. A Zero Waste Marin reimbursement grant of $5,000 is anticipated 
in 2024-2025 to offset the District’s cost for various waste reduction laws and support projects that move Marin’s 
communities to Zero Waste.  
 
Utilization of Bond Funds and Reserves  
 
The Private Sewer Lateral (“PSL”) Assistance Program has continued to collect reimbursements for loans made 
to property owners. The program has become self-funded, with sufficient revenue coming from repayment by 
property owners to fund 
assistance to new property 
owners wishing to take 
advantage of the program. The 
balance in this program as of 
June 30, 2024 is anticipated to 
be $411,350. Anticipated 
revenue of $100,000 will help 
offset the $187,800 in budgeted 
expenses for new assistance 
payments in 2024-2025.  
 
The District has previously 
budgeted for projects that have 
not yet begun or are in the 
middle of construction, which 
has created carry-over capital 
funding that is available for 

Sewer Charge
50.74%

Property Taxes
3.22%

ERAF
1.17%

Interest income
1.99%

Grants
0.01%

Recycled water
0.35%

Lateral 
Assistance Prog.

0.24%

Reserves/Bond/
Capacity Fund

32.38%

IBank, MMWD 
Buy‐In Franchise, 

& Other
3.67%

Unrestricted 
Cash
6.23%

FISCAL YEAR 2024‐2025 TOTAL REVENUE SOURCES 
$41,127,060

16



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

4 
 

continuing projects. These projects are included in the Capital Outlay budget. Any unused funding allocated to 
these projects will carry forward into 2024-2025. A total of $12,255,708 of prior-year capital carry-over is 
budgeted for use in 2024-2025.  
 
Capital Reserves used for the STPURWE Project were depleted by May 2023. The Marin Municipal Water 
District (“MMWD”) Buy-In and their share of debt service payments collected for the STPURWE project and held 
in this reserve was used towards the completion of the project. The projected Capital Reserve beginning balance 
for 2024-2025 of $9,318,529 includes $6,000,000 designated for the Laboratory/Education Center/Board Room 
project which is one component of the operations and administration building projects. Additional funding and 
reallocation from undesignated capital reserves will bring the designated ending balance for the building projects 
to $9,000,000 and the undesignated reserves to $1,500,000. There is no planned use of these funds in 2024-
2025.  
 
Transfers from the Capacity / Connection Fee Facilities Fund, which has been growing as fees for new or 
additional connections to system are paid by developers, can be used to pay for collection system and plant 
capacity improvements necessary to serve those connections. There is no planned use of these funds budgeted 
for 2024-2025. 
 
Transfers from the Marin Lagoon and Captains Cove restricted funds can be used towards repayment of 
operating and capital costs, including capital replacement and Board authorized capital projects, incurred for 
Marin Lagoon and Captains Cove collection systems. A total of $53,800 is budgeted for 2024-2025. 
 
The Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement fund established in May 2023 is expected to have an 
ending balance of $17,520 as of June 30, 2025. Both LGVSD and MMWD are required to each contribute 10% 
of their portion of recycled water operating and maintenance expenses to this fund annually. 
 
The graph below shows the composition of District revenues for the past five fiscal years plus the projected 
2023-2024 and Proposed budget for 2024-2025. 

 $‐
 $4,000,000
 $8,000,000

 $12,000,000
 $16,000,000
 $20,000,000
 $24,000,000
 $28,000,000
 $32,000,000
 $36,000,000
 $40,000,000

2
0
1
9
‐2
0

2
0
2
0
‐2
1

2
0
2
1
‐2
2

2
0
2
2
‐2
3

2
0
2
3
‐2
4

 2
0
2
4
‐2
5

Revenue Sources 2020 to 2025 IBank, MMWD Buy‐In 
Franchise, & Other

Reserves/Bond/
Capacity Fund

Lateral Assistance Prog.

Recycled water

Grants

Interest income

ERAF

Property Taxes

Sewer Charge

17



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

5 

EXPENDITURES	
 

The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which is recognized as the official source of GAAP for 
state and local governments, establishes modified accrual accounting standards. Modified accrual accounting 
is used and accepted by governmental agencies because they focus on current-year obligations. Las Gallinas 
Valley Sanitary District Policy F-40-20 (Basis of Budgeting) required that all budgetary procedures conform to 
state regulations and generally accepted accounting principles. As such, the District uses a modified accrual 
basis of accounting for reporting on budgeted versus actual expenditures, with the following exceptions: 

 
 Grant revenues are budgeted on a modified cash basis rather than an accrual basis. 

 Fixed assets are depreciated for some financial reporting but are fully expensed in the year acquired for 
budgetary purposes. 

 
Modified accrual accounting is an alternative bookkeeping method that combines accrual-basis accounting with 
cash-basis accounting. It recognizes revenues when they become available and measurable and, with a few 
exceptions, records expenditures when liabilities are incurred. 
 
The General Manager and Administrative Services Manager are responsible for development of internal 
accounting policies and procedures necessary to implement financial policies and to ensure that internal 
controls, processes, and procedures follow the California State Controller’s Office Internal Control Guidelines 
pursuant to CGC section 12422.5 and are adequate to protect the finances of the District. 
 
Expenditures of the District are broken down into the following categories:  
  

1. Operations and 
Maintenance 
Expenses (including 
salary & benefits)  

2. Debt Service 

3. Reserve Funding 

4. Capital Outlay 

 
The District’s largest 
expenditure category is 
Capital Outlay followed by 
Operations and Maintenance. 
The operations and 
maintenance expense, debt 
service, reserve and 
restricted funding, and capital 
outlay financials have been 
reviewed and comments on 
key items of interest are being provided to the Board to facilitate discussion. The Board can review its reserve 
policy and establish reserve funding targets for the Operating & Rate Stabilization Reserve, Emergency 
Repair, Capital Reserves, and Vehicle and Equipment Reserve as part of the budget process. 
 

Salary & Benefits
$8,048,400 

20%

Operations & 
Maintenance
$5,777,100 

14%

Debt Service
$4,506,819 

11%
Reserve 
Funding

…

Capital Outlay
$19,915,828 

48%

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024‐2025

18



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

6 

Operations and Maintenance Expenses 
 
Employee Expenses: 
 

Employee wages and benefits have risen over recent years as staff positions have been added. The Proposed 
budget shows actual change over 2023-2024 is projected to be 11.5%. A 3% cost-of-living adjustment effective 
July 1, 2024 is factored into the budget. The budget includes funding for one additional Full-Time Equivalent 
(“FTE”) position proposed for 2024-2025, which may consist of two part-time staff, that would be created for the 
“Operator-In-Training” (“OIT”) apprenticeship program to support the treatment plant be developed in late 2024. 
The budget for 2024-2025 is based on the District maintaining full-staffing levels throughout the year and includes 
adding $100,000 for the OIT program and for contract personnel to support the engineering department later this 
year. 

 
Payroll taxes, group life insurance, CalPERS retirement, Health benefits, Dental, and Vision insurance are 
projected to increase over prior year actuals as new employees are hired to fill approved and proposed positions. 
 
CalPERS contributions are projected from regular wages with the published employer contribution rate of 16.02% 
for classic members (up slightly from 15.95%) and 7.87% (up from 7.68%) for PEPRA in 2024-2025. Staff who 
became CalPERS members after 2013 are covered by the PEPRA plan which requires lower retirement 
contributions by the District. PEPRA employees are required to contribute 8% towards their retirement per MOU. 
The District’s share of CalPERS contributions in 2024-2025 is projected to increase 1.5% over prior year actuals. 
 
Health insurance is projected based on the known rates for July through December 2024 and the application of 
an estimated health insurance trend rate of +1% for the remainder of 2024-2025. CalPERS Health will set the 
coverage rates for 2025 in the summer of 2024. The expense also reflects costs associated with one new 
proposed position for 2024-2025. Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) retiree health benefits for prior 
employees and pre-funded expenditures for current employees based on the GASB 75 actuarial valuation 
measurement date June 30, 2022 are included under health benefit expenses. 
 

Collection System 
and Pump Stations

21%

Wastewater 
Treatment

36%

Sewage and solid 
waste disposal

2%

Laboratory
5%

Engineering
8%

Recycled Water 
Production

1%

Administration 
and General

27%

O&M EXPENSE BY FUNCTION 

19



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

7 

The Auto Allowance is a vehicle allowance benefit for management employees who have this benefit included 
in their contracts. Managers who opt to use a District vehicle are not entitled to the auto allowance. A cost-of-
living adjustment for the vehicle Auto Allowance will be made on July 1, 2025.  
 
Proposed New Program and Position: 
 

Board Financial Policy F-40-40 grants exclusive authority to the Board to increase the number of authorized staff 
at the District. Historically, new staff positions are considered as part of the budget process. After a review of 
operational needs management is recommending the creation of an “Operator-In-Training” (“OIT”) 
apprenticeship program and the addition of one FTE position, increasing the FTE positions at the District from 
thirty-one to thirty-two. The following program is proposed: 
 
OIT Program and Plant Operator-in-Training 
 
An OIT program would allow management to create either one full-time or two part-time positions to work at the 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Treatment Plant, learning new skills and helping existing operators and lab 
staff with the operation of the plant. Both Central Marin Sanitation Agency and Napa Sanitation District have OIT 
programs. The first-year cost to implement the program is estimated to be $60,000. Beginning in 2026, the 
annual cost of the program would be between $120,000 and $150,000 depending on the candidate’s 
qualifications, whether they are full or part time, whether they qualify for the District’s CalPERS retirement plan, 
and whether they take advantage of the District’s paid CalPERS Health family benefit option. There may be 
opportunities to offset some costs through educational internship/apprenticeship funding sources.  
 
The job classifications for the Plant OIT and Lab Analyst-in-Training already exists and the positions are on the 
District’s Pay Schedule. Upon Board approval of the budget and authorization to increase staff count, 
management can begin designing the program and plan for hiring for the apprenticeship program in late 2024. 
 
Insurance: 
 

Workers compensation insurance is based on projected wages for 2024-2025, plus the addition of full-time 
positions being filled, and a decrease in the experience modification factor from 0.89 to 0.70 based on the 
District’s recent claims history. The Workers Compensation Insurance Rating Board (WCIRB) continues to use 
the simplified Experience Rating Formula which removes the first $250 of each claim for the calculation. The 
decrease in the projected 2024-2023 actuals is attributable to the lower experience modification factor for the 
July 1, 2023 to July 1,2024 period. 
 
Pooled liability insurance includes general liability and mobile equipment, billed separately. The general liability 
insurance premium period is based on a calendar year and the mobile equipment on a fiscal year basis. The 
liability insurance is the larger premium for which the yearly cost is known based on the current billing, and a 
modest increase of 3% over 2023 has been calculated for liability insurance. The insurance invoice for the July 
1, 2024 to June 30, 2025 term has not yet been received.  
 
Property insurance is reported on the same line item with general liability. Since 2018, significant events have 
driven the property insurance market to tighten substantially. Prior events in 2020 and 2021 have further 
aggravated market conditions and the firming trend is expected to continue. Property insurance rates are forecast 
to increase 6% or an additional $10,320 because of market conditions. In addition, the new construction values 
related to the STPURWE Project were added to the insured Schedule of Values (SOV) which will increase the 
Total Insurance Value by an additional 7.5%, resulting in an additional $12,900 premium increase at renewal in 
2024-2025. 

20



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

8 

Repairs and Maintenance: 
 

Most repairs and maintenance expenses are coordinated by the Maintenance Supervisor, but actual expenses 
related to assets are allocated to the respective financial class Collection System, Pump Station, Treatment 
Plant, or Recycled Water for proper accounting. Management work together to authorize and approve expenses. 
Inflation and logistic delays have continued to have an impact on the costs of parts and services in 2024 but are 
stabilizing. It is anticipated that continued inflationary factors will influence costs into 2025 with an increase in 
the range of 3% to 6% over current costs. The Repair and Maintenance Proposed budget for 2024-2025 will be 
under the prior year’s budget by $153,900 (-20.7%) but over the projected actual expenses by $180,763 (31.3%). 
The primary drivers of increased maintenance costs in 2024-2025 are: 
 

 Algae control at the reclamation storage pond is expected to cost $80,000. This is periodically performed 
and is not an annual expense. Other incidental maintenance costs include the building and grounds 
maintenance which includes having an outside firm perform yard work on the main building landscape, 
and includes expenses related to maintenance work performed by the District’s skilled maintenance 
employees. Monthly Jefferson Security Fire Suppression monitoring is also included under the repair and 
maintenance budget. 

 Bio-Wheel chain sprocket units and additional pumps will be ordered as inventory for emergency pump 
replacements and Bio-Wheel repairs. $50,000 has been added to the Capital Repair and Replacement 
budget for the pumps and $50,000 for the Bio-Wheel chain sprocket units. Capital repairs/replacements 
consist of items that are long-lived or life extending in nature but are not included in the capital 
improvements budget. They are either items that are capital in nature, but the replacement/repair is not 
anticipated as part of the initial capital outlay budget or items such as small pumps and equipment with 
a cost under the $5,000 capitalization threshold.  

 
Other Operating Expenses: 
 

Other operating expenses include supplies and contracted services to support the operations at the treatment 
plant, pump stations, and administration of the District. 
 

 Chemical costs make up the largest percentage of supplies required by the District. The amount budgeted 
for supplies and small tools is  $850,200, and  of that $633,800 is for chemicals. The District is a member 
of the Bay Area Chemical Consortium (“BACC”) which assists the District in obtaining the most 
competitive unit pricing. Unit prices beginning July 1 for sodium hypochlorite will increase 12.86% and 
sodium bisulfite will decrease 11%, offsetting each other and resulting in a modest increase in chemical 
costs of $17,000 over the current year. 

 Outside contracted services include services related to personnel and HR services, guard service, labor 
relations, janitorial services, security patrols and alarm monitoring, portable restroom rentals, alternate 
grant funding studies, and other incidental outside operating expenses. 

 Sludge injection and land disposal of biosolids is normally an operational expense of the wastewater 
treatment process. During the first year of the Biosolids Program Monitoring Research project, land 
application was performed as part of the biosolids feasibility study and sludge was injected into the 
Districts dedicated disposal site. The associated costs related to land disposal of solids, required as part 
of the ongoing study, was charged to the Biosolids Program Monitoring Research project. As we enter 
the second year of the study, a call for bids for Biosolids Land Application Services for 2024 went out. 
Coordination with the USEPA Research Team is a small component of the bid requirements with the cost 

21



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

9 

anticipated to be only a fraction of total project costs. The Proposed budget includes $380,000 as an 
operational expense based on the prior year’s cost of sludge injection and land disposal. 

 Consultants include costs for climate assessments, Canada goose project and reporting to NPDES, 
MMWD water data review and rate setting assistance, recruitment, labor relations, and for organizational 
and Board development. 

 Feasibility studies that are not capital improvement or capacity related are treated as an operational 
expense. Unspent funding of $64,000 for the North Bay Water Reuse Authority (NBWRA) drought 
contingency and sea-level rise resilience studies have been carried forward to fiscal year 2024-2025. No 
additional operational feasibility studies have been identified for 2024-2025, but once the Integrated 
Wastewater Master Plan is complete, management expects feasibility studies will be undertaken. A 
placeholder of $10,000 is included for an operational study in the Proposed budget. 

 The financial services budget includes $60,000 to contract with an independent financial advisor to 
identify debt financing and/or bond issuance options for the John Duckett Pump Station and Multi-Use 
Laboratory building construction projects. Additional financial services include actuarial valuations, sewer 
rate studies, and arbitrage compliance services.  

 The Private Lateral Rehabilitation Assistance Program (“PLRAP”) budget has been increased to 
$187,800. The PLRAP was established to help property owners pay for repairing or replacing their lower 
and upper private sewer lateral. Under this program, the District will advance the property owner up to 
$10,000 to be repaid semi-annually, over ten years at flat 2% interest. In the upcoming months, the 
District will be repairing or replacing multiple sewer main line segments as part of its Sewer Main 
Collection System Rehabilitation Program, which will affect 100-150 residential and commercial parcels 
depending on the scope of work. It is expected that 10% of these property owners would take advantage 
the PLRAP to coordinate replacement of their upper lateral. 

 
General and Administrative: 
 

General and Administrative expenses round out the Operations and Maintenance expenses of the District. The 
expenses under this category are District wide and benefit all departments. 
 

 Election costs are budged at $25,000 bi-annually, every even fiscal year, and is based on estimated 
billings from the Marin County Registrar of Voters. The next election is November 2024. 

 Computer Services and Software includes annual software renewals, outside computer network support, 
Zoom video conference, and other incidental computer software products. As software companies move 
away from providing owned software licenses and switch to a Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) licensing 
and delivery model, in which software is licensed on a subscription basis and is centrally hosted, the 
District will see these expenses rise. CityWorks and ArcGIS follow the multi-year SaaS licensing models. 
Other software such as SCADA, Caselle, and Microsoft Office which have software license agreements 
for one-year or less are treated as incidental software licenses. Computer equipment below the capital 
asset threshold is replaced as needed under the Office Supplies & Equipment cost center.  

 Public education and outreach expenses are for the joint efforts with other Marin County wastewater 
treatment agencies, web site maintenance, donation requests from community groups for funding, special 
mailings and for the District’s newsletter and annual sewer rate change mailings. 

 Rents and leases include the annual administration office lease at 101 Lucas Valley Road ($114,900), 
lease of the postage machine, off-site records storage, railroad easements and copiers. The lease for 
the administration office is up for renewal on December 1, 2024 and an increase in rent is anticipated. 

22



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

10 

 Employee training and education includes the cost for the District to participate in the Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore employment relations consortium and other offsite training. Management training and coaching 
has been added to the budget for all managers and supervisors following the 2024 FutureSense climate 
assessment report. An increase in offsite training conferences in 2024 and 2025 is expected, and the 
budget reflects this increase over the current year actuals. 

 

Debt Service 
 

The District has five issuances of debt outstanding. They are as follows: 
 

 Certificates of Participation (COP) with an original principal amount of $10,000,000, which were issued 
in 2005, and have annual principal and interest payments through December 2025. The District 
refinanced them at a reduced interest rate of 3.3% which will save interest over the remaining life and 
will result in lower annual payments. The principal balance remaining is scheduled to be $1,408,800 as 
of July 1, 2024. 

 State Revolving Fund Loan (SRF) was a construction loan which originated in 2010 and was completely 
drawn down in 2012. The original principal amount was $4,314,750 with annual principal and interest 
payments through June 2032. The interest rate is 2.7%. The principal balance remaining is scheduled to 
be $2,029,476 as of July 1, 2024. 

 Bank of Marin Loan #1 which originated in 2011 with a principal amount of $4,600,000. Monthly principal 
and interest payments are due through June 2031. The interest rate is 3.88%. The principal balance 
remaining is scheduled to be $2,032,589 as of July 1, 2024. 

 2017 Revenue Bonds were issued in April 2017 with a principal amount of $38,365,000. The true interest 
rate to maturity is 3.2984%. Annual principal and interest payments are due through April 2042. The 
principal balance remaining is scheduled to be $31,110,000 as of July 1, 2024. 

 The District entered into an agreement with California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank 
(IBank) in May 2019 for a loan of $12,000,000. The loan has a maturity date ranging from August 1, 2019 
through August 1, 2043. The interest rate on the loan is 3.0% per annum. The principal balance remaining 
is scheduled to be $10,252,581 as of July 1, 2024. An annual service fee, $30,758 for 2024-2025, is 
treated as an Operating & Maintenance expense but recognized as debt service for budget purposes. 
The annual fee is not reported as a long-term obligation in audited financials. 

 
The debt service does not reflect the reimbursement to be received from MMWD for buying into the existing 
recycled water treatment facility or their portion of the 2017 Revenue Bonds. The payments received from 
MMWD are deposited into the operating account for use to pay their share of debt service for the recycled water 
treatment facility improvements. Choosing to recognize debt service payments from MMWD as a reimbursement 
to the general operating account for debt service payments, rather than funding of the capital reserve, results in 
the District’s 2017 Revenue Bonds debt obligation being lower. 
 
The Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) for the District for 2024-2025, based on the presented budget and 
debt service, is determined by dividing the Net Operating Income ($10,682,420) by Total Debt Service 
($4,506,819). The calculated DSCR for 2024-2025 is therefore 2.37.  The District is required to maintain a DSCR 
of 1.25 or higher due to bond covenants and we are above this minimum. The District includes both its operating 
income and non-operating income, primarily guaranteed property taxes, in determining its Net Operating Income 
which is used in the calculation of DSCR. When specifically included in a utility’s bond indenture, rate stabilization 
reserves can be used to help meet debt service coverage requirements during times of revenue shortfalls. 

23



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

11 

Reserves 
 

District Financial Policy F-50 (Reserves) establishes reserves, explains the purpose and reasons for the size of 
each reserve, and provides for oversight of reserves. 
 

 Operating & Rate Stabilization Reserve has a target of a minimum balance equal to 7 months of average 
annual budgeted expenses. Based on reserve fund policy the reserve target for 2024-2025 is 
approximately $10,100,000 and the reserve will have a balance of $4,247,894 at the beginning of the 
upcoming fiscal year. The budget includes adding $585,211, one-tenth of the reserve target shortfall, to 
the budget for 2024-2025. The reserve has been established to fund unexpected expense increases and 
can be used to help stabilize sewer service charge rate swings.  

 Emergency repair reserve target is $1,500,000 and can be used to fund emergency repairs. Any shortfall 
in the reserve is to be built up over 2-3 years. The budget is proposing $111,111 be added to the reserve 
in 2024-2025. 

 Capital Reserves contains both designated and undesignated funds for capital projects. The target of 
$11,000,000 includes $9,000,000 designated for the construction of the Operation Control Center OCC 
/ Administration building and the Multi-Use Laboratory / Education Center / Board Room building. The 
Proposed budget for 2024-2025 includes adding an additional $1,018,529 to the Designated Capital 
Reserve for this project and reallocating $1,318,529 from the undesignated balance to designated capital 
reserve balance. The budget authorizes $500,000 for use towards the corporation yard design project.  

 Vehicle and Equipment Reserve (VERF) was established in Fiscal Year 2019-2020 to fund vehicle and 
equipment replacements. The reserve was targeted at $1,000,000. A total of $100,000 will be added to 
replenish the VERF and $584,043 will be used to purchase vehicles and equipment listed on the Capital 
Outlay budget in 2024-2025. 

 Capacity Connection Fee reserve fund is restricted for the use of collection system and plant capacity 
improvements to serve the new connections that contributed to the fund through fees collected. The 
budget includes the addition of $342,200 to the reserve.  

 Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon are restricted reserves built up when there is an excess of special 
assessments over projected operations, maintenance and capital expenditures which are collected for 
these developments. Both funds will be drawn down to pay for operational and capital projects. A rate 
surcharge rate study was undertaken as part of the 2023 Sewer Service Rate Study, and it determined 
that Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon contributions are sufficient to continue the ongoing operations and 
maintenance needs of the pump stations serving these communities. Larger capital improvement projects 
may require an increase in the surcharge in a future fiscal year budget. 

 Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement restricted reserve fund was created in May 2023. 
LGVSD and MMWD are required to contribute 10% of their portion of annual recycled water O&M costs 
into this restricted fund for future capital expenditures to the Recycled Water Treatment Facility. A total 
of $17,520 will be added to the restricted fund in 2024-2025. 

 

Capital Outlay 
 

The District is required to budget for the adequate maintenance of capital equipment and facilities to protect the 
public investment and ensure achievement of their maximum useful life. The District is required to prepare and 
adopt a at minimum a 5-Year Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) as part of the rate setting process that 
identifies and sets priorities for all major capital assets to be acquired, constructed, or replaced by the District. 

24



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

12 

The District has chosen to prepare a 7-Year CIP which includes a biosolids program and flood and sea-level 
mitigation projects that have been identified to take place after 2027. District policy requires the CIP be included 
in the adopted budget and that the status of the CIP is updated annually as part of the budget process. 
 
The CIP identifies adequate funding to support the acquisition, construction and replacement of assets identified 
in the plan, and identifies projects that the District believes beneficial to the system, but funding has not yet been 
identified. The CIP includes and indicates when and for what projects the District intends to finance through the 
issuance of debt. Additionally, the District strives to develop a comprehensive strategy and funding plan for the 
renewal and replacement of existing capital assets. 
 
The Capital Outlay budget contains projects specifically identified in the 7-Year CIP for 2024-2025 through 
2030-2031 plus miscellaneous capital needs that change yearly. The proposed 2024-2025 Budget only 
includes funding approval for projects identified in the first year of the CIP and contains the list of projects to be 
funded with the adoption of this budget. The additional projects listed in the CIP are proposed for future years 
and they will require their own funding approval as part of their respective yearly budget.  
 
Collection system projects, including the Smith Ranch Pump Station Electrical Upgrade and restarting of the 
Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program, will comprise most of the capital budget in 2024-2025, 
with total collection system project costs budgeted at $8,413,397. 
 
Authorization to proceed with the Primary Effluent Pump Station and Secondary Clarifier Expansion project to 
eliminate blending by increasing treatment capacity to 24 MGD was approved by the Board on May 16, 2024 
has been added to the Capital Outlay budget. Unspent funding from the STPURWE project was allocated to 
partially fund this new project with the remaining funding source coming from unrestricted funds in 2024-2025.  
 
The following is a graph showing the composition of District expenditures for the past four (4) fiscal years plus 
this upcoming budget year of 2024-2025. O&M expenses have increased an average of 13.5% a year over 
three years and 14.3% over five years.  
 

 
 

** Supporting Financial Statements are attached to this report on the following pages ** 

$7,840,695  $9,498,124  $10,152,676  $11,433,011 
$13,825,500 

1,546,650 
2,624,414 

4,992,112 
4,886,085 

2,878,913 

1,546,650 

2,624,414 

4,992,112  4,886,085  2,878,913 
17,912,279 

12,784,041 

9,143,294  5,970,772 

19,915,828 

 $‐

 $4,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $16,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $24,000,000

 $28,000,000

 $32,000,000

 $36,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $44,000,000

FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Expenditures FY 2021 to FY 2025

Operations and Maintenance Debt Service Reserves Capital Projects from All Sources

Operations and Maintenance Expense Trend line
Average increase 14.3% over 5‐years

25



2023-24 2023-24 2024-25
Adopted Projected Proposed
Budget Actuals Budget

Beginning Balance (July 1): 30,690,796$        30,690,796$       31,302,226$   

     Revenue:

        Rate Revenues (1) 18,959,072$        18,682,547$       20,866,010$   

        Other Operating revenue (1) 255,835               227,980              243,920          

        Non-operating revenue (1) 2,475,766            2,928,293           2,912,240       

        Capital / Capacity Related 2,075,960            672,967              1,546,142       

     Expenditures:

        Operating expense (2) (12,686,900)         (11,433,011)        (13,825,500)    

        Debt Service (3) (4,496,574)           (4,496,574)         (4,506,819)      
        Capital outlay (17,031,457)         (5,970,772)         (19,915,828)    

Ending Balance (June 30): 20,242,498$       31,302,226$      18,622,391$  

        Reserves and Restricted Funds 16,955,339$        16,859,383$       18,587,439$   
        Unrestricted Funds (includes CIP Carryover) 3,287,159$          14,442,843$       34,952$          

NOTE:

IBank Installment Sale Agreement retention of $567,760 included in the beginning balance, it is considered cash 

for accounting purposes while held by IBank until disbursement occurs.

2023-24 2023-24 2024-25
Adopted Projected Proposed

   DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO (DSCR) Budget Actuals Budget
      Net Operating Income (NOI) = (1) - (2) 9,003,773$          10,405,809$       10,196,670$   
      Total Debt Service = (3) 4,496,574$          4,496,574$         4,506,819$     
      DSCR = NOI  / Debt Service  (Estimate *) 2.00 2.31 2.26

   *  Actual DSCR will be determined at the end of the fiscal year based on actual revenue and expenditures.

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
BALANCE STATEMENT & ACCOUNT INFORMATION
PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

   BALANCE STATEMENT

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 126



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change

Revenue Final Adopted Projected Proposed Over Prior

Description Audited Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

OPERATING REVENUE

Sewer Service User Charges 16,999,751$      18,959,072$      18,682,547$    20,866,010$    9.14%

Recycled Water (MMWD / NMWD) 246,090             165,400             130,327           143,400           -15.34%

Inspections/Permits/Application Fee 45,135               75,150               57,038             59,900             -25.46%

Miscellaneous Operating Revenue 102,434             15,285               40,616             40,620             62.37%

Total Operating Revenue 17,393,410        19,214,907        18,910,527      21,109,930      8.98%

NON-OPERATING REVENUE

Property Tax 1,175,740          1,229,409          1,246,233        1,296,090        5.14%

Suppl. Property Tax Assess. 42,191               32,501               16,495             26,660             -21.91%

Educational Revenue Augmentation Fund 496,224             507,904             465,714           480,510           -5.70%

Homeowner Property Tax Relief 4,280                 2,371                 2,271               2,360               -0.47%

Franchise Fees Marin Sanitary Service 166,059             197,991             173,630           185,440           -6.77%

Private Sewer Lateral Assistance Program 110,665             81,700               94,988             100,000           18.30%

Interest Income 3,934                 2,790                 129,128           90,380             96.91%

Interest on Reserves and Investments 543,096             396,100             784,320           705,800           43.88%

Reimbursements / Pass thru 28,737               25,000               15,514             25,000             

2,570,927          2,475,766          2,928,293        2,912,240        14.99%

CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS / CAPACITY RELATED 

Annex, Capital Facility Charges, Connection Fees 325,673             870,286             281,692           320,420           

Interest on Connection Fee Fund 2,815                 1,733                 27,224             21,780             

Interest on Bond Funds 6                        4                        4                      5                      

Marin Municipal Water District Inter-Governmental 388,733             631,177             364,047           631,177           

IBank Loan Disbursements -                   567,760             -                 567,760           

Federal Grants 3,120                 -                   -                 -                       

State Grants -                   5,000                 -                 5,000               

720,347             2,075,960          672,967           1,546,142        -34.27%

TOTAL REVENUES 20,684,685$      23,766,633$      22,511,787$    25,568,312$    7.05%

UTILIZATION OF RESTRICTED FUNDS AND RESERVES
2022-23      

Actual Use
Adopted 
Available

2023-24 
Projected Use Budgeted

Operating Reserves / Rate Stabilization -                   -                   -                 -                       

Private Sewer Lateral Assistance Funds 68,045               60,500               32,985             187,800           

Capital Outlay Carryover Utilized 9,143,294          10,000,036        5,970,772        12,255,708      

Capital Construction Project Reserve 2,196,165          -                   -                 500,000           

Interest Earned on Unspent IBank Funds 1,578                 6,495                 20,921             -                       

Transfers from Marin Lagoon Restricted Fund 15,396               26,600               31,007             37,200             

Transfers from Captains Cove Restricted Fund 6,029                 24,800               18,787             16,600             

Transfers from Capacity Connection Fee Fund -                   -                   -                 -                       

    SUB TOTAL 11,430,507        10,118,431        6,074,472        12,997,308      22.15%

-                         -                       

ALLOCATION OF UNRESTRICTED WORKING CASH CAPITAL 5,778,361          2,561,440        

TOTAL FUNDS AVAILABLE FOR EXPENDITURES 32,115,192$      39,663,425$      28,586,259$    41,127,060$    

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
REVENUE

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 127



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change
Final Adopted Projected Actual Proposed Over Prior

Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

OPERATING EXPENSES

   EMPLOYEE WAGES 4,341,184         4,846,200       5,070,246              5,654,200           16.67%

   EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 1,416,919         2,059,200       2,237,581              2,394,200           16.27%

   INSURANCE EXPENSE 404,910            473,100          441,106                 486,400              2.81%

   REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 534,150            912,100          577,527                 758,200              -16.87%

   SUPPLIES & SMALL TOOLS 708,778            1,072,200       808,416                 850,200              -20.71%

   CONTRACTED SERVICES 1,178,952         1,590,700       904,116                 1,959,500           23.18%

   UTILITIES 917,075            888,900          757,378                 922,700              3.80%

   GENERAL & ADMINSTRATIVE 650,708            844,500          636,642                 800,100              -5.26%

   OPERATING EXPENSE TOTALS 10,152,676$     12,686,900$   11,433,011$          13,825,500$       8.97%

DEBT SERVICE

   DEBT SERVICE TOTALS 4,527,724$       4,496,574$     4,496,574$            4,506,819$         0.23%

RESERVE FUNDING

   OPERATING & RATE STABILIZATION 635,195            639,123          639,123                 585,211              -8.44%

   EMERGENCY REPAIR -                        166,667          166,667                 111,111              

   CAPITAL RESERVES 3,977,802         3,668,782       3,668,782              1,681,471           -54.17%

   VEHICLE & EQUIPMENT (VERF) 150,755            38,765            38,765                   100,000              157.96%

   CAPACITY  (RESTRICTED FUND) 210,216            872,019          308,916                 342,200              -60.76%

   CAPTAINS COVE (RESTRICTED FUND) 8,188                16,010            16,246                   16,250                1.50%

   MARIN LAGOON (RESTRICTED FUND) 9,956                24,780            34,596                   25,150                1.49%

   RECYCLED WATER (RESTRICTED FUND) -                        22,348            12,990                   17,520                

   RESERVE FUNDING TOTALS 4,992,112$      5,448,494$    4,886,085$           2,878,913$         -47.16%

  
CAPITAL OUTLAY

   CAPITAL OUTLAY 9,143,294$       17,031,457$   5,970,772$            19,915,828$       16.94%

TOTAL BUDGET

   TOTAL BUDGET 28,815,805$     39,663,425$   26,786,442$          41,127,060$       3.69%

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
BUDGET SUMMARY

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 128



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change

Acct. Final Adopted Projected Actual Proposed Over Prior
Num. Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

EMPLOYEE WAGES
5000 Regular Staff Salaries  (5033) 3,709,524$      4,154,700$        4,349,858$          4,752,900$       14.40%

5301 Contract Pers. / OIT Program  2024-25 47,693             17,400               -                           100,000            474.71%

5010 Over Time  (5020) 129,708           170,400             185,862               203,700            19.54%

5030 Stand By 103,606           120,800             141,326               153,300            26.90%

5073 Emergency Response Stipend 58,395             65,100               58,345                 64,300              -1.23%

5075 Certification Stipend 119,925           137,000             143,069               171,600            25.26%

5077 Longevity Pay 106,632           103,200             124,215               130,800            26.74%

5050 Directors Fees 65,702           77,600             67,571                77,600             0.00%

TOTAL EMPLOYEE WAGES 4,341,184      4,846,200        5,070,246           5,654,200        16.67%

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
5090 Vacation and Sick Accrual 84,902             64,000               117,600               90,600              41.56%

COVID-19 Leave 27,430             -                         -                           -                        N/A

5115 Directors Benefits 9,779               10,900               10,900                 10,900              0.00%

5130 Payroll Taxes (SSI) 311,394           308,700             337,284               373,800            21.09%

5150 Group Life Insurance 10,494             19,200               23,524                 24,200              26.04%

5120 PERS 155,612           722,400             714,540               725,400            0.42%

5110 Health Insurance & Wellness Prog.  (5111-5113, 5170) 728,862           873,800             930,315               1,036,200         18.59%

5117 Dental Insurance 44,441             61,600               44,269                 57,200              -7.14%

5119 Vision Insurance 3,533               8,200                 4,151                   9,100                10.98%

5160 Long Term Disability 29,113             43,000               38,843                 50,300              16.98%

5060 Auto Allowance 11,360             11,400               16,154                 16,500              44.74%

5070 Commute Vehicle Stipend -                     -                       -                          -                       

TOTAL EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 1,416,919      2,059,200        2,237,581           2,394,200        16.27%

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSE

Expense Description

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 429



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change

Acct. Final Adopted Projected Actual Proposed Over Prior
Num. Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSE

Expense Description

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

INSURANCE
5140 Workers' Comp Insurance 138,848           156,200             114,994               111,400            -28.68%

5411 Pooled Liability & Property Insurance 263,915           315,800             324,957               373,800            18.37%

5496 Fidelity Bond 2,147             1,100               1,155                  1,200               9.09%

TOTAL INSURANCE EXPENSE 404,910         473,100           441,106              486,400           2.81%

REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE
5310 Vehicle Parts & Maintenance 54,736             55,400               46,444                 48,700              -12.09%

5311 Building maintenance 32,369             63,100               30,019                 30,800              -51.19%

5312 Grounds Maintenance 49,515             156,700             56,921                 141,100            -9.96%

5321 Reclamation Pasture & Pond Maint. (5323, 5326) 98,453             181,400             157,938               186,300            2.70%

5313 Power Generation Maint & Repair 22,901             26,000               15,801                 16,200              -37.69%

5315 Equipment Maintenance 83,786             93,000               129,185               134,000            44.09%

5317 Equipment Repair 149,883           153,100             66,514                 69,500              -54.60%

5319 Capital Repairs/Replacements 42,508           183,400           74,704                131,600           -28.24%

TOTAL REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 534,150         912,100           577,527              758,200           -16.87%

SUPPLIES & SMALL TOOLS
5281 Hypochlorite 269,864           536,600             307,731               347,300            -35.28%

5282 Bisulfite 138,836           203,600             237,944               211,800            4.03%

5283 Miscellaneous Chemicals 57,535             69,300               71,180                 74,700              7.79%

5211 General Operating & Lab Supplies (5284) 67,472             76,600               45,722                 51,800              -32.38%

5231 Fuel, Oil, and CNG for Vehicles (5232-5235) 45,257             56,100               37,749                 43,800              -21.93%

5243 Safety Equipment & Supplies 57,716             50,800               36,877                 41,400              -18.50%

5241 Safety Services 57,469             60,000               52,016                 57,900              -3.50%

5222 Small Tools 14,628           19,200             19,196                21,500             11.98%

TOTAL SUPPLIES & SMALL TOOLS 708,778         1,072,200        808,416              850,200           -20.71%

Last update:6/3/2024 2 of 430



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change

Acct. Final Adopted Projected Actual Proposed Over Prior
Num. Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSE

Expense Description

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

CONTRACTED SERVICES
5329 Lab Contract Services 63,186             70,600               63,529                 68,500              -2.97%

5327 Pollution Prevention Program 24,489             21,600               11,856                 17,300              -19.91%

5331 Outside Services  (5337, 5335,5339) 84,487             280,900             124,414               272,300            -3.06%

5333 Janitorial 23,988             23,700               21,763                 24,400              2.95%

5334 Uniform Service 14,305             15,500               23,235                 23,900              54.19%

5224 Damage Claim -                       20,000               -                           -                        -100.00%

5325 Sludge Disposal Inject 102,650           2,000                 43,645                 380,000            18900.00%

5345 SCADA Engineering Support 77,571             69,600               82,542                 96,800              N/A

5341 Regulatory Consultant 149,766           163,900             100,237               170,900            4.27%

5415 Pass-thru & Gen. Small Projects (5344) 53,436             57,600               23,687                 39,400              -31.60%

5417 Feasibility Studies 53,083             100,000             -                           74,000              -26.00%

5342 Consultants - Other 299,268           438,100             200,487               337,600            -22.94%

5351 Legal  (5352) 105,221           183,600             129,276               149,200            -18.74%

5353 Audit 31,220             22,700               22,000                 22,000              -3.08%

5355 Financial Services 26,669             35,400               24,460                 95,400              169.49%

5441 Private Lateral Rehab Assist. Program 68,045             60,500               32,985                 187,800            210.41%

5497 Low-Income Rate Assistance (see revenue) 1,568             25,000             -                          -                       N/A

TOTAL CONTRACTED SERVICES 1,178,952      1,590,700        904,116              1,959,500        23.18%

UTILITIES
5421 Internet 11,292             11,000               9,013                   9,300                -15.45%

5423 Telephone 45,410             44,600               37,080                 38,100              -14.57%

5425 Utility Power 813,358           781,300             684,374               842,600            7.85%

5427 Water 47,016           52,000             26,910                32,700             -37.12%

TOTAL UTILITIES 917,075         888,900           757,378              922,700           3.80%

Last update:6/3/2024 3 of 431



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25 % Change

Acct. Final Adopted Projected Actual Proposed Over Prior
Num. Actual Budget End of Year Budget Year Budget

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
OPERATING AND MAINTENANCE EXPENSE

Expense Description

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

GENERAL & ADMINSTRATIVE
5303 Payroll Processing 24,596             24,900               21,089                 25,900              4.02%

5465 Conferences 67,966             71,200               48,913                 74,200              4.21%

5467 Mileage and Travel 414                  5,200                 5,198                   8,400                61.54%

5359 Election 250                  25,300               -                           25,000              N/A

5221 Office Supplies & Equipment 71,354             69,800               43,945                 60,100              -13.90%

5223 Meeting Supplies 5,292               5,800                 8,247                   12,400              113.79%

5439 Donations Non-Profits 9,000               10,000               14,000                 10,000              0.00%

5361 Computer Services and Software  (5362, 5363) 97,039             157,300             124,835               152,700            -2.92%

5431 Bank Charges 1,850               1,900                 1,857                   1,900                0.00%

5457 User Charge Collection Fee 34,357             38,300               783                      800                   -97.91%

5433 Publication and Legal  Ads 13,398             11,300               12,688                 13,500              19.47%

5347 Public Education and Outreach (1) 59,847             55,200               53,330                 42,000              -23.91%

5453 Taxes, Other 1,397               1,400                 466                      500                   -64.29%

5461 Memberships (CASA, CSDA, NBWRA) 60,212             67,900               72,960                 72,100              6.19%

5455 Permits (NPDES, Biosolids, BAAQCD) 79,033             83,500               88,144                 86,100              3.11%

5498 Penalties & Fines 66,385             -                         -                           -                        

5451 Rents and Leases 34,569             153,100             127,334               136,500            -10.84%

5229 Employee Recognition (1) 6,923               8,400                 1,510                   2,500                -70.24%

5469 Employee Training and Education (1) 14,927             45,300               7,122                   66,200              46.14%

9999 Miscellaneous expense  (+COVID )   (5225, 9998) 1,900             8,700               4,220                  9,300               6.90%

TOTAL GENERAL & ADMINSTRATIVE 650,708         844,500           636,642              800,100           -5.26%

OPERATING EXPENSE TOTALS 10,152,676$    12,686,900$      11,433,011$        13,825,500$     8.97%

Last update:6/3/2024 4 of 432



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25
Total Adopted Projected Proposed
Actual Budget End of Year Budget

2005 Certificates of Participation/
Refunded 2014 708,665$           717,380$            717,380$             725,105$          

2010 State Revolving Fund Loan 285,464             285,464              285,464               285,464$          

2011 Bank of Marin Loan 332,681             332,681              332,681               332,681            

2012 Bank of Marin Loan 39,225               -                          -                          -                        

2017 Revenue Bonds (1) (2) 2,445,000          2,445,600           2,445,600            2,449,400         

2019 IBank Loan 716,688             715,448              715,448               714,169            

4,527,724$        4,496,574$         4,496,574$          4,506,819$       

(1) Includes treatment plant upgrade, recycled water treatment plant expansion and operations control center.

(2) Per Board action on May 25, 2017, amounts collected for the treatment plant upgrade and operations
  control center projects prior to the bonds being issued were reclassified as Reserves and are reflected in
  the Reserve Budget for all years presented.

Principal Interest Annual Fee

2005 Certificates of Participation/
Refunded 2014 690,000$            35,105$               -$                      

2010 State Revolving Fund Loan 230,669              54,795                 -                        
-                        

2011 Bank of Marin Loan 257,318              75,363                 -                        
-                      

2017 Revenue Bonds 1,205,000           1,244,400            -                        
-                        

2019 IBank Loan (4) 381,557              301,854               30,758              

2,764,544$         1,711,517$          30,758$            

(4) Annual IBank fee treated as Operation & Maintenance Expense but recognized as debt service for budget purposes.
     Only principal and interest is reported on audit as long-term obligations.

Expenditure

Debt  Service  Breakdown FY 2024-25

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

Expenditure

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 133



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25
Actual Adopted Projected Proposed

Budget End of Year Budget

Beginning Reserve Balance 5,715,213$    11,210,971$      11,210,971$    15,724,308$   

Operating & Rate Stabilization Reserve
Beginning Balance 2,973,576$    3,608,771$        3,608,771$      4,247,894$     

Plus: Additions 635,195         639,123             639,123           585,211          
Less: Use of Funds -                     -                         -                       -                      

Ending Balance 3,608,771$    4,247,894$        4,247,894$      4,833,105$     
Purpose: Insure minimum of 7 months of O&M + Debt Service is available Target: 10,100,000$         

Emergency Repair -               -                   -                 -                
Beginning Balance 1,000,000$    1,000,000$        1,000,000$      1,166,667$     

Plus: Additions -                   166,667          166,667          111,111          
Less: Use of Funds -                   -                       -                     -                   

Ending Balance 1,000,000$    1,166,667$        1,166,667$      1,277,778$     
Purpose: Fund emergency repairs, replenish over 2 to 3 year period. Target: 1,500,000$           

Capital Reserves (STPURWE, OCC, and other CIP)
Beginning Balance 899,969$       5,649,747$        5,649,747$      9,318,529$     

Plus: Undesignated (rebalanced in 2024-2025) 336,464         668,782             668,782           (1,318,529)      

Plus: Lab & OCC/Admin Buildings Designated Reserves 3,000,000      3,000,000          3,000,000        3,000,000       

Plus: STPURWE LGVSD Bond Reserve (1) 225,715         -                            -                       -                      

Plus: STPURWE MMWD Buy-In (2) 159,196         -                         -                       -                      

Plus: 2017 Bond MMWD Debt Service Share  (3) 256,427         -                         -                       -                      

Plus: Corr. to incld. PY BoM MMWD Reserves (4) 2,968,141      -                         -                       -                      

Less: Authorized Use of Funds  (5) (2,196,165)     -                         -                       (500,000)         
Ending Balance 5,649,747$    9,318,529$        9,318,529$      10,500,000$   

Undesignated Ending Balance 3,318,529$     1,500,000$    

Designated Ending Balance (Lab Edu Board OCC Admin) 6,000,000$     9,000,000$    

Purpose: To provide capital for major capital projects. Target: 11,000,000$         

Vehicle and Equipment Reserve (VERF)
Beginning Balance 841,668$       952,453$           952,453$         991,218$        

Plus: Additions 150,755         38,765               38,765             100,000          
Less: Authorized Use of Funds (39,970)          (442,476)            -                       (584,043)         

Ending Balance 952,453$       548,742$           991,218$         507,175$        
Purpose: To fund large vehicle and equipment replacements, replenish over 2 to 3 years. Target: 1,000,000$           

Ending Reserve Balance 11,210,971$  15,281,832$      15,724,308$    17,118,057$   

Target Total 23,600,000$         

(1) Excess funds over debt payments put aside for STPURWE project thru completion, FY 22-23.

(2) MMWD quarterly buy-in payments towards STPURWE until March 2023. Funds held in Bank of Marin Money Market #3983 till funds exhausted.

(3) MMWD semi-annual Revenue Bond payments toward project - Held in Bank of Marin  Money Market  #3983. Closed out March 2023.

(4) Bank of Marin (BoM) contributions from prior year MMWD buy-ins not included in Capital Reserve balance, corrected as of 12/31/22.

(5) Authorized use of $500K in Capital Reserves towards Corporation Yard Design.

Total Budgeted New Reserve Funding: 2,477,793$     

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024
RESERVES

Last update:6/5/2024 1 of 134



2022-23 2023-24 2023-24 2024-25
Actual Adopted Projected Proposed

Budget End of Year Budget

Restricted Funds

Capacity / Capital Facilities / Connection Fee Fund (#5025)
Beginning Balance 587,687$      797,904$          797,904$         1,106,819$    

Plus: Additions 210,216       872,019           308,916           342,200        
Less: Use of Funds -                   -                       -                     -                   

Ending Balance 797,904$      1,669,923$       1,106,819$      1,449,019$    
Purpose: To pay for collection system and plant capacity improvements to serve new connections.

Captains Cove Fund (#5019)
Beginning Balance 1,498$          3,657$              3,657$             1,116$           

Plus: Additions 8,188           16,010             16,246             16,250          
Less: Use of Funds (6,029)          (24,800)           (18,787)           (16,600)        

Ending Balance 3,657$          (5,133)$             1,116$             766$              
Purpose: Special assessment fees in and class account 350 expenses out. 

Marin Lagoon Fund (#5005)
Beginning Balance 15,978$        10,538$            10,538$           14,127$         

Plus: Additions 9,956           24,780             34,596             25,150          
Less: Use of Funds (1) (15,396)          (26,600)             (31,007)           (37,200)          

Ending Balance 10,538$        8,718$              14,127$           2,077$           
Purpose: Special assessment fees in and class account 360 expenses out. 

(1) Prior Year Capital Expenditures for Marin Lagoon Pump Station #1 to be recovered over multiple years as balance insufficient
    to cover entire cost of project.   

Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement Fund (#5028) (2)

Beginning Balance -$                  23$                   23$                 -$               
Plus: Additions -                   22,348            12,990            17,520          
Less: Use of Funds -                   -                       -                     -                   

Ending Balance 23$               22,371$            13,014$           17,520$         
Purpose: Capital repair or replacement costs at the Recycled Water Treatment Facility.  Fund shall not exceed $500K.

(2) Established May 2023 with first annual contribution by MMWD and LGVSD to be made in 2023-24.
    To be funded by LGVSD and MMWD by multiplying the total annual recycled water Operating & Maintenance producing costs by 10%. 
    

Total Restricted Fund Reserve Funding: 401,120$       

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT
RESTRICTED FUNDS

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024-2025  - JUNE 20, 2024

Last update:6/3/2024 1 of 135



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 PY CIP 
Carryover 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

 Restricted 
Captains 

Cove 

 Restricted 
Marin Lagoon 

 Capital 
Reserves 

 Vehicle 
Replacement 

Fund 

PLANNING, SOFTWARE, ADMINISTRATION & OTHER ENGINEERING

1 MC 20100-05 Active Integrated Wastewater Master Plan Phase 2 and Phase 3              350,000 112,546                      237,454 

2 MC 21500-08 Active Biosolids Program Monitoring Research Support& Flood Protection                65,952 35,203                          30,749 

3 GP 21600-20 Active Asset Management CMMS Centricity (Plant, PS, Rec Phases 2-4)              250,000 250,000                                  - 

4 MC 24125-03 Active On-Call Engineering Contract              206,000 170,625                        35,375 

5 MC 24125-01 Active On-Call Construction Contract (2023-2025)              257,500 257,500                                  - 

6 MC 24125-02 Active On-Call Inspection Capital Projects                61,800 61,800                                    - 

7 MC 23200-01 Active Hydraulic and Continued Flow Modeling of Collection System                77,250 -                                   77,250 

8 MC 22125-01 Pending Sea Level Rise Mitigation Program Planning                60,000 60,000                                    - 

9  MC 21600-01 Active Emergency Bypass Pumping Analysis & Response Plan                36,050 36,050                                    - 

10 ML 24560-01 Pending Lab Software LIMS for TNI Standards Reporting                50,400 45,000                            5,400 

11 MC 22125-02 Pending 
Completion

Standard Specifications and Drawings Update Project                10,000 10,000                                    - 

12 MC New Aeration System Reliability Study                75,000 -                                   75,000 

Subtotal:           1,499,952        1,038,724             461,228                       -                       -                    -                         - 

FLEET & EQUIPMENT (To be procured through Vehicle Replacement Fund)

22     GP 24460-01  Ordered 2023 Vactor Flusher Truck - clean diesel              573,743 -                   573,743             

23    GP 24460-04 Pending Equipment for Collection System Response (trailers, hoses)                10,300 -                   10,300               

24    GP VERF VERF Fleet Replacement Vehicles and Utility Collection System Trucks (To VERF Reserve)              100,000             100,000 

Subtotal:              684,043                       -             100,000                       -                       -                    -             584,043 

 Mid-Year Add = Projects funded mid-fiscal year 2023-24 and carrying forward into 2024-25

Budget 24-25 = Projects on CIP in 2023-24 but first funding request in 2024-25

New = New CIP projects identified and first funding request in 2024-25

FUNDING SOURCES FY 2024-2025

Capital Outlay Budget for Fiscal Year 2024‐2025
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROPOSED BUDGET

Collection System 
and Pump Stations, 

$8,413,397

Treatment Plant, 
$8,050,000

Engineering and 
Administration, 
$1,499,952

Reclamation, 
$1,267,890

Fleet Vehicles and 
Equipment, $684,043

CAPITAL PROJECTS BUDGETED FOR 2024‐2025

Page 1 of 3 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:40 AM36



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 PY CIP 
Carryover 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

 Restricted 
Captains 

Cove 

 Restricted 
Marin Lagoon 

 Capital 
Reserves 

 Vehicle 
Replacement 

Fund 

FUNDING SOURCES FY 2024-2025

Capital Outlay Budget for Fiscal Year 2024‐2025
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROPOSED BUDGET

COLLECTION SYSTEM (INCL. PUMP STATIONS "PS" & FORCE MAINS )

40  MC 11200-03  Active John Duckett PS Electrical &  Terra Linda Trunk Sewer Creek Crossing Improvement Design              450,000 450,000                                  - 

41  MC  New Terra Linda Highway 101 Undercrossing Sewer Lining              500,000 500,000                                  - 

42  MC 20300-09  Mid-Year Add Smith Ranch Pump Station Electrical Upgrades and Generator Conversion           1,195,000 755,000                      440,000 

43  GP 24460-05  Active Electrical System VFD Replacement (Phase 1)              500,000 4,197                          495,803 

44  GP  After VFD SCADA Integration for Pump Stations (Phase 2 split from VFD Replacement)              530,000 -                                 530,000 

45  MC 21300-03  Active Standby Generators for Minor Pump Stations              372,400 63,093                        309,307 

46  MC 21300-04  Active Pump Station Site Lighting, Safety, & Security Improvements              206,877 206,877                                  - 

47  MC 22300-01  Pending Rafael Meadows Pump Station - Fencing, full perimeter 150,000             150,000                                  - 

48  MC 21350-01  Active Automatic Transfer Switches for Pump Stations              124,297 124,297                                  - 

49 MC 21600-03  Pending Annual Site Improvement - Paving, Fencing, Lighting                60,000 26,045                          33,955 

50  GP 18350-01  Pending Captains Cove Pump Station Upgrades (1)                18,000 -                                   14,000 4,000              

51  GP 24540-01  Pending Marin Lagoon Pump Stations Upgrades (1)                60,000 -                     60,000              

52 MC 24500-05 Mid-Year Add Hawthorn Waterproofing Drywell                60,000 60,000                                    - 

54 MC 20200-01  Active Force Main Assessment, Install Ports, Cleaning, Location Marking, & Mapping              250,000 250,000                                  - 

57  MC 24460-06  Active Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program 2024           1,886,823 1,886,823                               - 

58 MC Budget 24-25 Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program 2025           1,000,000 -                              1,000,000 

60 MC 24460-07  Active Sewer I&I Reduction Program 2024              500,000 500,000                                  - 

61 MC Budget 24-25 Sewer I&I Reduction Program 2025              500,000 -                                 500,000 

63  GP 19200-02  Ongoing Manhole Frame & Cover Adjustment Allowance                50,000 50,000                                    - 

Subtotal:           8,413,397 5,026,332       3,383,065         4,000              -                     -                   -                        

(1) - Partially Funded by Captains Cove & Marin Lagoon Restricted Funds

Green = Pump Station Capital Assets

Blue = Force Main Sewer

Peach = Collection System Sewers

RECLAMATION

86  MC 22500-04  Active Solar PV System Replacement / Solar PPA              200,000 188,583                        11,417 

87  MC  New Center Pivot No. 3 Replacement              250,000 6,114                          243,886 

88  MC  New Center Pivot No.  4 Replacement              250,000 -                                 250,000 

90  GP 21500-01  Pending Reclamation Pump Station Improvements  - MCC, Pumps, Wet Well              180,640 180,640                                  - 

91  MC 24500-04  Pending Sludge Lagoon Liner Replacement/Repair                77,250 77,250                                    - 

92  MC 24580-02 Active Diversion Box Valve & Gate Installation                60,000 60,000                                    - 

93  MC  Pending Levee Road Restoration              150,000 150,000                                  - 

94  MC  New Cattail Dredging in Ponds              100,000 -                                 100,000 

Subtotal:           1,267,890           662,587             605,303                       -                       -                    -                         - 

Page 2 of 3 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:40 AM37



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 PY CIP 
Carryover 

 Unrestricted 
Funds 

 Restricted 
Captains 

Cove 

 Restricted 
Marin Lagoon 

 Capital 
Reserves 

 Vehicle 
Replacement 

Fund 

FUNDING SOURCES FY 2024-2025

Capital Outlay Budget for Fiscal Year 2024‐2025
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROPOSED BUDGET

TREATMENT PLANT (INCL. RECYCLED WATER)                         - 

111 MC 24600-01  Active Laboratory Building Design (Lab / Education Center / Boardroom)           1,791,000 650,000                   1,141,000 

112 MC  Budget 24-25 Corporation Yard Design              500,000 -                                             - 500,000

114 MC 21600-06  Active Digester Room MCC #2 Upgrade Design & Construction           1,300,000 1,300,000                               - 

115 MC 24600-08 Mid-Year Add Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade           1,000,000 1,000,000                               - 

116 MC 24600-17 Mid-Year Add Secondary Effluent Line Modification (related to STPUWRE project)              721,000 720,958                               42 

117 MC 22600-01  Active Primary Clarifier #1 Repair              590,000 577,291                        12,709 

118 MC 24600-15 Mid-Year Add Primary Effluent PS and Secondary Clarifier Expansion to 24 MGD Capacity           1,175,000 300,000                      875,000 

119 MC 24600-02  Pending Primary Clarifier Repair Sludge Pump Addition              150,000 150,000                                  - 

120 MC 21600-11  Pending Annual Site Improvement - Paving, Fencing, Lighting              150,000 60,000                          90,000 

121 ML 24600-07 Mid-Year Add SCADA  Improvements at Plant                50,000 50,000                                    - 

122 MC 24600-03  Pending Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase 2 Design - Primary Clarifiers. Disinfection, RAS              400,000 180,113                      219,887 

123 MC 24600-14 Active Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) (2)                26,000 13,927                          12,073 

124 ML New Lab Equipment                10,000 -                                   10,000 

131 MC 24600-10 Mid-Year Add Existing Secondary Clarifier Removal                55,000 55,000                                    - 

132 MC 24600-11 Mid-Year Add Anoxic Basin Coating and Waterproofing                60,000 60,000                                    - 

133 MC 24600-13 Mid-Year Add Chlorine Contact Basin Access MH Extension                50,000 50,000                                    - 

Subtotal:           8,028,000        5,167,289          2,360,711                       -                       -         500,000                         - 

(2) - Potential offset by two funding programs, Inflation Reduction Act 25% to 40% and PG&E SGIP between 25% and 35%, potential lowering $6M to as low as $1.7M actual cost

TOTAL PLANNING, FLEET, COLLECTION , RECLAMATION, & TREATMENT PROJECTS (Non-Financed)

Total (Non-Financed):         19,893,282      11,894,932          6,910,307               4,000                       -         500,000             584,043 

FINANCED AND BOND PROJECTS

146 MC 12600-07  Active Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade - STPURWE (financial closing as of 6-30-24)   (4)                20,000               20,000 

147 MC 16650-02  Active Recycled Water Expansion - STPURWE (financial closing as of 6-30-24)   (4)                  2,000                 2,000 

Subtotal:                22,000                       -               22,000                       -                       -                    -                         - 

Total Debt Funded                         - 

(3) - Buildup of $9M in cash reserves reached in FY 2024-25 for Multipurpose Lab  and OCC/Admin buildings

(4) - Board action will be required to make final payment from reserves or other sources if final construction related payment not complete by June 30, 2024 .

GRAND TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY:      19,915,282      11,894,932          6,932,307               4,000                       -         500,000             584,043 

Page 3 of 3 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:40 AM38



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 Year 2
2025-26 

 Year 3
2026-27 

 Year 4
2027-28 

 Year 5
2028-29 

 Year 6
2029-30 

 Year 7 
2030-31 

PLANNING, SOFTWARE, ADMINISTRATION & OTHER ENGINEERING

1 MC 20100-05 Active Integrated Wastewater Master Plan Phase 2 and Phase 3         350,000                       - 

2 MC 21500-08 Active Biosolids Program Monitoring Research Support& Flood Protection           65,952                       -                       -                       -                       -                       - 

3 GP 21600-20 Active Asset Management CMMS Centricity (Plant, PS, Rec Phases 2-4)         250,000            116,600                       -                       - -                      -                      

4 MC 24125-03 Active On-Call Engineering Contract         206,000            212,200            218,600            225,200            232,000            239,000           246,200 

5 MC 24125-01 Active On-Call Construction Contract (2023-2025)         257,500            265,300            273,300            281,500            290,000            298,700           307,700 

6 MC 24125-02 Active On-Call Inspection Capital Projects           61,800              63,700              65,700              67,700              69,800              71,900             74,100 

7 MC 23200-01 Active Hydraulic and Continued Flow Modeling of Collection System           77,250              79,600              82,000              84,500              87,100                       - 

8 MC 22125-01 Pending Sea Level Rise Mitigation Program Planning           60,000              50,000                       -                       - -                      -                      

9  MC 21600-01 Active Emergency Bypass Pumping Analysis & Response Plan           36,050                       -                       -                       -                       -                       - 

10 ML 24560-01 Pending Lab Software LIMS for TNI Standards Reporting           50,400                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

11 MC 22125-02 Pending 
Completion

Standard Specifications and Drawings Update Project           10,000                       -                       -                       - -                      -                      -                      

12 MC New Aeration System Reliability Study           75,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

Subtotal:      1,499,952            787,400            639,600            658,900            678,900            609,600           628,000 

FLEET & EQUIPMENT (To be procured through Vehicle Replacement Fund)

22     GP 24460-01  Ordered 2023 Vactor Flusher Truck - clean diesel         573,743                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

23    GP 24460-04 Pending Equipment for Collection System Response (trailers, hoses)           10,300              10,700              11,100              11,500              11,900              12,300             12,700 

24    GP VERF VERF Fleet Replacement Vehicles and Utility Collection System Trucks (To VERF Reserve)         100,000            100,000            580,000            109,000            112,000            115,000           118,000 

Subtotal:         684,043            110,700            591,100            120,500            123,900            127,300           130,700 

 Mid-Year Add = Projects funded mid-fiscal year 2023-24 and carrying forward into 2024-25

Awaiting Board = New project to be brought to the Board for approval and start in 2023-24

Budget 24-25 = Projects on CIP in 2023-24 but first funding request in 2024-25

New = New CIP projects identified and first funding request in 2024-25

7‐Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROJECTED EXPENDITURES

PROPOSED BUDGET

Page 1 of 4 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:41 AM39



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 Year 2
2025-26 

 Year 3
2026-27 

 Year 4
2027-28 

 Year 5
2028-29 

 Year 6
2029-30 

 Year 7 
2030-31 

7‐Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROJECTED EXPENDITURES

PROPOSED BUDGET

COLLECTION SYSTEM (INCL. PUMP STATIONS "PS" & FORCE MAINS )

38  MC 11200-03  Active John Duckett PS Electrical &  Terra Linda Trunk Sewer Creek Crossing Improvement Design         450,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

39  MC  New Terra Linda Highway 101 Undercrossing Sewer Lining         500,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

40  MC 20300-09  Mid-Year Add Smith Ranch Pump Station Electrical Upgrades and Generator Conversion      1,195,000            200,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

41  GP 24460-05  Active Electrical System VFD Replacement (Phase 1)         500,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

42  GP  After VFD SCADA Integration for Pump Stations (Phase 2 split from VFD Replacement)         530,000         1,060,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

43  MC 21300-03  Active Standby Generators for Minor Pump Stations         372,400                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

44  MC 21300-04  Active Pump Station Site Lighting, Safety, & Security Improvements         206,877                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

45  MC 22300-01  Pending Rafael Meadows Pump Station - Fencing, full perimeter 150,000                              -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

46  MC 21350-01  Active Automatic Transfer Switches for Pump Stations         124,297                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

47 MC 21600-03  Pending Annual Site Improvement - Paving, Fencing, Lighting           60,000              61,800              63,700              65,700              67,700              69,800             71,900 

48  GP 18350-01  Pending Captains Cove Pump Station Upgrades (1)           18,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

49  GP 24540-01  Pending Marin Lagoon Pump Stations Upgrades (1)           60,000              61,800              63,700              65,700              67,700              69,800                      - 

50 MC 24500-05 Mid-Year Add Hawthorn Waterproofing Drywell           60,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

51  MC  Future Mulligan PS & 18" TS  and Hwy 101 Undercrossing Capacity Upgrades                     -                       -            981,000         6,720,000                       -                       -                      - 

52 MC 20200-01  Active Force Main Assessment, Install Ports, Cleaning, Location Marking, & Mapping         250,000            258,000            266,000            274,000                       -                       -                      - 

53  MC 14300-05  Future Smith Ranch Rd Combined Force Main                     -                       -                       -            257,500         2,650,000                       -                      - 

54  MC  Future Lower Marinwood TS Capacity Upgrade & Relocation                     -                       -                       -            257,500         1,590,000                       -                      - 

55  MC 24460-06  Active Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program 2024      1,886,823                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

56 MC Budget 24-25 Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program 2025      1,000,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

57 MC Program Future Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program - future years                     -         1,030,000         1,061,000         1,093,000         1,126,000         1,160,000        1,195,000 

58 MC 24460-07  Active Sewer I&I Reduction Program 2024         500,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

59 MC Budget 24-25 Sewer I&I Reduction Program 2025         500,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

60 MC Program Future Sewer I&I Reduction Program - future years                     -            515,000            531,000            547,000            564,000            581,000           599,000 

61  GP 19200-02  Ongoing Manhole Frame & Cover Adjustment Allowance           50,000              52,000              54,000              56,000              58,000              60,000             62,000 

62  MC  Budget 24-25 Upper Terra Linda TS and Siphon Improvements (capacity)                     -            500,000         4,000,000                       -                       -                       -                      - 

63  MC  Future Northgate Industrial Park 8" Hwy 101 Undercrossing                     -                       -            180,250         1,855,000                       -                       -                      - 

64  MC Placeholder  Placeholder IWMP Pump Station & Force Main Projects (Placeholder)                     -                       -                       -                       -         1,700,000         5,900,000        4,100,000 

65 MC Placeholder  Placeholder Sea Level Rise Mitigation Construction (Placeholder)                     -                       -                       - -                      -                      1,090,000       1,120,000       

Subtotal:      8,413,397         3,738,600         7,200,650       11,191,400         7,823,400         8,930,600        7,147,900 

Green = Pump Station Capital Assets

Blue = Force Main Sewer

Peach = Collection System Sewers

Page 2 of 4 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:41 AM40



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 Year 2
2025-26 

 Year 3
2026-27 

 Year 4
2027-28 

 Year 5
2028-29 

 Year 6
2029-30 

 Year 7 
2030-31 

7‐Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROJECTED EXPENDITURES

PROPOSED BUDGET

RECLAMATION

83  MC 22500-04  Active Solar PV System Replacement / Solar PPA         200,000              44,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

84  MC  New Center Pivot No. 3 Replacement         250,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

85  MC  New Center Pivot No.  4 Replacement         250,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

86  MC  New Center Pivot No. 5, Replacement                     -            250,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

87  GP 21500-01  Pending Reclamation Pump Station Improvements  - MCC, Pumps, Wet Well         180,640                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

88  MC 24500-04  Pending Sludge Lagoon Liner Replacement/Repair           77,250              79,500                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

89  MC 24580-02 Active Diversion Box Valve & Gate Installation           60,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

90  MC  Pending Levee Road Restoration         150,000            150,000              62,000              67,200              69,300              71,400             73,600 

91  MC  New Cattail Dredging in Ponds         100,000            250,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

92  MC  Future Catwalk Replacements in Reclamation Pond                     -                       -              60,000                       -                       -                       -                      - 

93  MC  Future Storage Pond 1 Transfer Pipe Repair                     -                       -                       -            100,000                       -                       - 

94  MC  Future St. Vincent's Pump Station Improvements                     -                       -                       -                       -            100,000            257,500           530,000 

95 MC Placeholder Placeholder Biosolids Program Implementation & Construction (Placeholder)                     -                       -                       -         2,300,000         2,300,000         2,300,000                      - 

96 MC Placeholder  Placeholder Sea Level Rise Mitigation Construction (Placeholder)                     -                       -                       - -                                 567,500 1,090,000       1,120,000       

Subtotal:      1,267,890            773,500            122,000         2,467,200         3,036,800         3,718,900        1,723,600 

TREATMENT PLANT (INCL. RECYCLED WATER)

107 MC 24600-01  Active Laboratory Building Design (Lab / Education Center / Boardroom)      1,791,000                       -                       - -                      -                      -                      -                      

108 MC  Budget 24-25 Corporation Yard Design         500,000                       -                       - -                      -                      -                      -                      

109 MC 21100-01 Future Operations & Administration Building Design                     -         2,250,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

110 MC 21600-06  Active Digester Room MCC #2 Upgrade Design & Construction      1,300,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

111 MC 24600-08 Mid-Year Add Treatment Plant Standby Generator Upgrade      1,000,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

112 MC 24600-17 Mid-Year Add Secondary Effluent Line Modification (related to STPUWRE project)         721,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

113 MC 22600-01  Active Primary Clarifier #1 Repair         590,000            590,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

114 MC 24600-15 Mid-Year Add Primary Effluent PS and Secondary Clarifier Expansion to 24 MGD Capacity      1,175,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

115 MC 24600-02  Pending Primary Clarifier Repair Sludge Pump Addition         150,000                       -                       - -                      -                      -                      -                      

116 MC 21600-11  Pending Annual Site Improvement - Paving, Fencing, Lighting         150,000              64,000              66,000              68,000              71,000              74,000             77,000 

117 ML 24600-07 Mid-Year Add SCADA  Improvements at Plant           50,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

118 MC 24600-03  Pending Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase 2 Design - Primary Clarifiers. Disinfection, RAS         400,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

119 MC 24600-14 Active Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) (2)           26,000                       -         3,000,000         3,000,000                       -                       -                      - 

120 ML New Lab Equipment           10,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

121 MC  New Secondary Treatment Plant Optimization            500,000                       - -                                            - -                      -                      

122 MC 20600-04 Future Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase 3 Design- Flow Eq, UV, Headworks                     -                       -            500,000                       -                       -                       -                      - 

123 MC  Future Digester Replacement and Solids Improvement Design                       -                       - 1,300,000       -                      -                      -                      

124 MC  Future Boiler Relocation Project                       -                       - -                      515,000          -                      -                      

125 MC Placeholder  Placeholder Sea Level Rise Mitigation Construction (Placeholder)                     -                       -                       - -                      -                      1,090,000       1,120,000       

126 MC 24600-10 Mid-Year Add Existing Secondary Clarifier Removal           55,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

127 MC 24600-11 Mid-Year Add Anoxic Basin Coating and Waterproofing           60,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

128 MC 24600-13 Mid-Year Add Chlorine Contact Basin Access MH Extension           50,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

Subtotal:      8,028,000         3,404,000         3,566,000         4,368,000            586,000         1,164,000        1,197,000 

Page 3 of 4 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:41 AM41



 Line 
No.  Mgr. Project No.  Status Project Name

 Proposed 
Budget
2024-25 

 Year 2
2025-26 

 Year 3
2026-27 

 Year 4
2027-28 

 Year 5
2028-29 

 Year 6
2029-30 

 Year 7 
2030-31 

7‐Year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)
Proposed Budget - June 20, 2024)

PROJECTED EXPENDITURES

PROPOSED BUDGET

TOTAL PLANNING, FLEET, COLLECTION , RECLAMATION, & TREATMENT PROJECTS (Non-Financed)

Total (Non-Financed):    19,893,282         8,814,200       12,119,350       18,806,000       12,249,000       14,550,400      10,827,200 

FINANCED AND BOND PROJECTS

141 MC 12600-07  Active Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade - STPURWE (financial closing as of 6-30-24)   (4)           20,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

142 MC 16650-02  Active Recycled Water Expansion - STPURWE (financial closing as of 6-30-24)  (4)             2,000                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      - 

143  MC  Budget 24-25 John Duckett PS & HWY 101 Terra Linda TS Creek Crossing Construction                     -         5,000,000       10,300,000                       -                       -                       -                      - 

144 MC  Future Laboratory Building Construction - (Lab / Education Center / Boardroom) (3)                     -         7,500,000 3,500,000       -                      -                      -                      -                      

145 MC  Future Corporation Yard Construction                     -         5,000,000 -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      

146 MC  Future Administration and Operations Control Building Construction & Soft Costs  (3)                     -                       -       15,500,000                       -                       -                      - 

147 MC 20600-04  Future Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase 2 Construction - Primary Clarifiers                     -                       -         7,500,000                       -                       -                       -                      - 

148 MC Future Treatment Plant Upgrade Phase 3 Construction - Flow Eq, UV, Headworks                     -                       -                       -         3,975,000         3,975,000                       -                      - 

149 MC  Future Digester Replacement and Solids Improvement Construction                     -                       - -                      -                      6,540,000       6,540,000       -                      

Subtotal:           22,000       17,500,000       21,300,000       19,475,000       10,515,000         6,540,000                      - 

Total Debt Funded                     -      10,000,000      19,800,000      10,475,000      10,515,000        6,540,000                       - 

GRAND TOTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY:    19,915,282       26,314,200       33,419,350       38,281,000       22,764,000       21,090,400      10,827,200 

(1) - Partially Funded by Captains Cove & Marin Lagoon Restricted Funds

(2) - Potential offset by two funding programs, Inflation Reduction Act 25% to 40% and PG&E SGIP between 25% and 35%, potential lowering $6M to as low as $1.7M actual cost

(3) - Buildup of $9M in cash reserves reached in FY 2024-25 for Multipurpose Lab  and OCC / Administration buildings

(4) - Board action will be required to make final payment from reserves or other sources if final construction related payment not complete by June 30, 2024 .

Proposed
FY 2025

FY 2026 FY 2027 FY 2028 FY 2029 FY 2030 FY 2031

Finance ‐ 10,000,000 19,800,000 10,475,000 10,515,000 6,540,000

Cash 19,915,282 16,314,200 13,619,350 27,806,000 12,249,000 14,550,400 10,827,200

 $‐

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $35,000,000

 $40,000,000

$45,000,000
Total Projects ‐ 7 years ‐ Cash and Debt Funded

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000

30,000,000

35,000,000

40,000,000

2020‐21 2021‐22 2022‐23 2023‐24 2024‐25

Capital Improvements Over Past Four Years

Budgeted Actual / Forecast

Page 4 of 4 Printed: 6/13/2024 9:41 AM42



 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Budget\ASR Resolutions for 2024-2025 Budget.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2024 

Re: Resolutions for Collection of Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Sewer Service Charges and 
Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget Related Actions 

 

Item Type:   Consent   Action X Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to approve the four resolutions summarized below. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Each year at this time, the Board is presented with several budget-related resolutions for review 
and approval. These resolutions are required by the State and Marin County as part of the budget 
process pursuant to Health & Safety Code Sec. 6760 to request billing services and to request 
funds due the District. These resolutions are as follows: 

A. Resolution No. 2024-2331 – Reconfirming the annual sewer service charge and 
supplemental service charges and authorizing Marin County to bill sewer service charges 
on the tax roll. 

B. Resolution No. 2024-2332 – Fixing and Approving the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget. 
Exhibit A, the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 2024-2025 Budget, will be attached to 
the resolution after Board approval of the budget scheduled immediately before this 
agenda item. 

C. Resolution No. 2024-2333 – Determining the maximum appropriation limit of tax proceeds 
per state law of $3,557,446. 

D. Resolution No. 2024-2334 – Requesting allocation of taxes from Marin County for the 
Fiscal Year 2024-2025 ($1,297,000).  

 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None.  

Item Number_______3_______ 

GM Review   ______CP________ 

 

43

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


Resolution 2024-2331   Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION NO.  2024-2331 
 

A RESOLUTION RECONFIRMING THE ANNUAL SEWER SERVICE CHARGE 
AND SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE CHARGES FOR THE 

LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 AND PROVIDING FOR THE COLLECTION OF SEWER 

SERVICE CHARGES ON THE TAX ROLL 
 

 RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, as follows: 

 WHEREAS, the District did on June 30, 2023 have a Public Hearing on the Proposed 

Increase in Sewer Service Charges; and 

WHEREAS, the Board did on June 30, 2023 adopt Ordinance No. 192, which adopted 

the annual rate increases as outlined in the Proposition 218 Notification incorporated into 

Resolution No. 2023-2310 as Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the Board pursuant to the adoption of Ordinance No. 192 desires to affirm 

that the maximum basic annual sewer service charge rate for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is 

$1,356 per year starting on July 1, 2024, as indicated in the Proposition 218 Notification referred 

to above; and 

WHEREAS, the Board finds that the annual sewer service charge is supported by 

evidence in the study commissioned by the District staff and the charge meets the legal 

requirements of the California Constitution, Article XIII D, § 6 and Government Code §§ 53750 

et seq., and  

WHEREAS, on June 4, 2009, the Board approved Ordinance No. 142, An Ordinance 

Amending Title 5, Chapter 2, of the Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Regarding the Marin Lagoon Sewer Service Surcharge that the following sanitary sewer service 

surcharge, in addition to the annual sewer service charge, shall be: 

 
 Marin Lagoon Homeowners Association $110 per annum; and 

 
WHEREAS, on June 4, 2009, the Board approved Ordinance No.143, An Ordinance 

Adding Title 5, Chapter 3, of the Ordinance Code of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Regarding the Captains Cove Sewer Service Surcharge that the following sanitary sewer 

service surcharge, in addition to the annual sewer service charge, shall be: 

 
 Captains Cove Homeowners Association $100 per annum.  

 

44



Resolution 2024-2331   Page 2 of 2 

 NOW THEREFORE, the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, hereby resolves that, 

 

1. The annual basic sewer service charge of $1,356 per sanitary unit shall be the rate 

for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025.  

2. The annual sanitary sewer service surcharge for the Marin Lagoon HOA of $110 per 

annum and Captains Cove HOA of $100 per annum will be added to the sewer 

service charge above for the Fiscal Years 2024-2025. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County does hereby elect, pursuant to Section 5473 of the Health and Safety Code of the State 

of California, to have those certain sewer charges established by said District for services and 

facilities furnished by it, pursuant to ordinances thereof duly passed and adopted by the 

Sanitary Board of the District, collected on the tax roll of the County of Marin, State of California, 

in the manner provided pursuant to Sections 5470 through 5473.11 of the Health and Safety 

Code of the State of California and said ordinances of said District. 

 

*   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   * 

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and 

regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on June 20, 2024, by the following vote of 

the members thereof: 

 
AYES, and in favor thereof, Members:   

NOES, Members:   

ABSENT, Members:   

ABSTAIN, Members: 

             
      ________________________________ 

Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPROVE:             
           (seal) 
__________________________________ 
Craig K. Murray,  President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

45



Resolution No. 2023-2311  Page 1 of 3 

RESOLUTION No. 2024-2332 
 

A RESOLUTION FIXING AND APPROVING THE BUDGET  
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

 
LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, the General Manager and Administrative Services Manager have prepared 

the proposed budget for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025; and, 

WHEREAS, the members of the Sanitary Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District have studied that proposed budget and made amendments thereto; 

    NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas 

Valley Sanitary District that the general fund allocation approved for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is 

$41,127,060 including an allocation of $19,915,828 for capital improvements and $ 4,506,819 

for debt service. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 

District, Marin County, California, as follows: 

 1.  That balances on hand as of June 30, 2024, and in the funds of the District, shall 

be reserved for use by the District during the Fiscal Year 2024-2025. 

 2. That the budget for said District for the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 heretofore 

presented to this Board, a copy of which is hereto attached as Exhibit A and by reference 

incorporated herein, be hereby approved. 

 3. That the General Manager of this District shall be, and is hereby, authorized and 

directed to file a certified copy of this resolution with the budget of this District thereto attached, 

with the Board of Supervisors and the Treasurer of Marin County. 

 

*   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   * 

 
     I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and 

regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on June 20, 2024, by the following vote of 

the members thereof: 

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members:  

NOES, Members:  

 ABSENT, Members:   

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

         ________________________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 

46



Resolution No. 2024-2332  Page 2 of 3 
  

 
 

APPROVED: 
 
           (seal) 
______________________________ 
Craig K. Murray,  President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

47



Resolution No. 2024-2332  Page 3 of 3 
  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Exhibit A 
 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
2024-2025 Budget 

 

48



 

Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

Proposed Budget 

Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

June 20, 2024 

 
 

    

49



 

 

 

 

 

 

This Page Left Intentionally Blank  

 
  

50



 

 

 

June 20, 2024 
 
To the Board of Directors of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 
 
The management staff of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (“District or LGVSD”) is pleased 
to present the Proposed LGVSD Budget for the upcoming 2024-2025 fiscal year. The Proposed 
budget includes the latest data on revenue projections, expense forecasts, debt service 
requirements, reserve funding, and capital outlay expenditures.  
 
District Policy F-40-10 (Budget Preparation) requires that the General Manager and 
Administrative Services Manager prepare an annual budget proposal. The proposed annual 
budget, as amended by the Board during its review, shall be adopted at a regular meeting in June. 
 
SUMMARY 
 
The District must provide enough revenue to cover the cost of providing sanitary sewer collection, 
treatment, and recycled water service including the costs of acquisition, construction, 
reconstruction, maintenance, repairs, replacement and operation of the sanitary sewer systems 
and the payment of principal and interest on bonds or other debt instruments issued for the 
construction or reconstruction of the sanitary sewer systems.  Operating revenue includes sewer 
service charges collected, revenue from the production of recycled water, and revenue from 
permit and inspection fees related to development-related sewer system improvements of the 
collection system. Non-operating revenue, which supplements operating revenue, includes 
property taxes, interest, franchise fees, and other pass-thru reimbursement revenue. Capital 
contributions, grants, and the utilization of bond funds and reserves round out the revenue 
sources for the District. The District is anticipating $41,127,060 in total funding for 2024-2025 with 
$25,568,312 coming from revenue and $15,558,748 from prior year capital carryover, reserve 
funds, and unrestricted cash. 
 
Operations and Maintenance (“O&M”) expenses are anticipated to increase over the prior year 
actuals by $1,138,600, or 8.97%. O&M expenses means the reasonable and necessary expenses 
paid or incurred for maintaining and operating the collection, treatment, and recycled water 
systems (“Systems”) of the District, determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) that the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) established for 
and is used by state and local governments in the United States. O&M expenses include all 
reasonable expenses of management and repair and all other expenses necessary to maintain 
and preserve the systems of the District in good repair and working order. These include all 
administrative costs of the District that are charged directly or apportioned to the operation of the 
systems, such as salaries and wages of employees, overhead, the cost of permits, licenses, and 
charges to operate the system and insurance premiums. Excluded from O&M expenses are 
depreciation, replacement, obsolescence charges, reserves, and amortization of intangibles. 
O&M expenses, including employee salaries and wages, comprise 33.62% of the budget. 

51



 

 

 
Debt service requirements are $4,506,819 and include the 2017 Revenue Bonds and 2019 IBank 
loan. Debt service comprises 10.96% of the budget. The next debt to be paid off is the Municipal 
Finance Corporation 2005 Certificate of Participation Bond in 2026.  
 
New Reserve funding of $2,477,793 is proposed and set aside to cover scheduled, routine, and 
unscheduled expenses that would otherwise be drawn from the General Fund. Reserve funds 
may also be used for large-scale projects and improvements that are expected to happen in the 
future, such as the construction of new operations and laboratory buildings at the treatment plant 
and the John Duckett Pump Station and Trunk Sewer project. The District maintains four reserve 
funds and four restricted funds. Restricted funds are monies set aside for a particular purpose 
and $401,120 in additional funding is proposed with the budget and includes funding for the 
Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement fund required under agreement with Marin 
Municipal Water District (“MMWD”). Reserve funds are permanently restricted to that purpose 
and cannot be used for other expenses. Reserves Policy F-50 establishes and explains the 
purpose and reasons for each of the reserves established, along with target thresholds. Both the 
reserve funds and restricted funds are included in the reserve funding total, but they are different 
in that while the board can reallocate funds from reserves, while the restricted funds, such as 
Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon, serve a specific purpose and therefore their use is controlled 
by State law and agreements in place for providing service. Reserve and restricted funding 
comprise 7.0% of the budget. 
 
The Capital Outlay effort for 2024-2025 remains the primary driver of expenditures for the District 
comprising 48.43% of the total budget. The total capital outlay for the Capital Improvement 
Program (“CIP”) for Fiscal Year 2024-2025 is $19,915,828. During the development of the CIP, 
review of strategic initiatives established by the Board, along with anticipated implementation of 
the Integrated Wastewater Master Plan indicate that capital improvements will remain the primary 
expense driver for the District for at least the next 10 years. The good news is that by adding to 
or improving District facilities the public materially benefits from the value and useful life of the 
assets of the District. 
 
Unused prior year Capital Outlay Carryover funds is the primary funding source for most capital 
projects in Fiscal Year 2024-2025. $12,255,708 of carryover funding is allocated for use on capital 
projects in the 2024-2025 budget. 
 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 

Curtis Paxton        Dale McDonald 
General Manager    Administrative Services Manager 
 

  

52



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

1 
 

REVENUE	
 
Operating Revenue 
 
The District is entering its second year of a four-year Sewer Service Charge (“SSC”) rate plan. A rate increase 
of $124 annually for Single Family Residential (“SFR”) users is factored into the budget. The rate increase will 
provide $2,183,463 in additional revenue over last year. Non-residential SSC revenue is expected to decrease 
slightly as non-residential customers used less water during the measurement months resulting in lower SSCs. 
 
Recycled water revenue is the estimated cost of providing water to Marin Municipal Water District (“MMWD”) 
and North Marin Water District (“NMWD”) based on the projected recoverable costs for the year. Projections for 
revenue are based on the percentage of actual recycled water provided to MMWD and NMWD. Revenue is 
expected to increase slightly over the prior year’s actuals but remain below last year’s budgeted amount. The 
District’s Treatment Plant is utilizing more recycled water which lowers the percentage used by MMWN and 
NMWD respectively, resulting in lower operating cost recovery. 
 
Inspections, permits, and application fees reflect projected revenue from fees related to the Private Sewer Lateral 
Inspection program, lateral repairs and replacement, and applications for engineering review. The revenue is 
based on historical sales and permit data for properties within the District between 2019 and 2023. Permits 
revenue is expected to increase as private sewer lateral replacements are undertaken by property owners whose 
laterals are connected to main sewers included in the District’s Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation 
Program 2024 as a credit against SSC revenue. 
 
Non-Operating Revenue 
 
Secured property taxes are calculated based on the value of real property, land, and personal property, such as 
structures, located upon real property. Secured property is taxed at a general rate of 1% of the assessed value. 
Property tax projections for 2024-2025 are expected to be slightly higher than 2023-2024 actuals. For 2024-
2025, property tax revenue is budgeted at $1,296,090 and reflects a 4% increase over projected 2023-2024 
receipts. The District has historically identified secured property taxes as general fund revenue since the State 
puts no limitations on its use. It can, therefore, be considered a general fund that can be used for any legal 
purpose allowed by District Code and State law. The Low-Income Sewer Rate Assistance Program is funded 
from secured property tax revenue, and a total of $25,000 has been allocated to the program in 2024-2025. 
 
Prior Secured taxes, Supplemental Property Tax Assessments, and Home-Owner Property Tax Relief 
(“HOPTR”) funds are projected to rise 3.91% over last year. These are collected by the County with and at the 
same time as the secured property taxes and SSC assessment. They are reported separately as required by the 
State Controller’s Office and auditing standards. Both the 1% annual Ad-Valorem tax increase for most property 
owners and the reassessment of property value upon sale of homes are factored in the reserve assumptions. 
 
Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds (“ERAF”) are determined by State statute. Special districts are 
allocated a certain amount of property tax revenues; however, a portion is shifted from counties, cities, special 
districts, and redevelopment agencies to K-12 schools and community colleges. The District is subject to ERAF 
I and II tax shifts, which are specified by the State, using population and other factors. These factors are adjusted 
annually per the incremental growth rate in assessed property tax values. Staff has budgeted $480,510 for 2024-
2025 using the foundational basis from the ERAF revenue received in 2023-2024 and subtracting $15,124 in 
annual loss under the California Governor’s ERAF budget trailer bill submitted for the State’s 2024-2025 fiscal 

53



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

2 
 

year. Of note, Senate Budget Subcommittee 1 on Education recently rejected the Governor’s ERAF proposal. 
The issue remains fluid at the State level with any loss in excess ERAF funding due dependent on  charter school 
funding ruling and action by the legislature and Governor.  
 
The Solid Waste Franchise fee revenue is forecast based on the anticipated Marin Sanitary Service rate increase 
adopted in January of each year. The revenue is based on the agreement with the solid waste franchisee, Marin 
Sanitary Service. Higher rates due to costs related to implementation of SB 1383, the State’s organics recycling 
law, were adopted in January 2024 which has increased both revenue and pass thru expenses related to the 
solids waste collection, recycling, and organic waste programs. An incremental increase in Franchise Fee 
revenue is forecast for January 2025 and is in alignment with the recent cost-of-service Franchise Agreement 
study completed in March 2024. 
 
Interest on reserves, which are invested in the Bank of Marin, the Local Agency Investment Fund with the State 
of California, and two additional pooled investment accounts, California Cooperative Liquid Assets Security 
System (California CLASS) and California Asset Management Program (CAMP), are expected to yield lower 
returns as the interest rate remains flat after increasing last year. As the District uses accumulated funds for 
construction projects, the earnings are projected to decline in 2024-2025. 
 
The Private Sewer Lateral Assistance program began in July 2012. The budget reflects the projected direct 
repayments and annual payments to be collected on the tax roll in 2024-2025 from property owners that took 
advantage of the program to have the District pay for their sewer lateral repair or replacement. The District 
anticipates a spike in property owners taking advantage of the program due to the impact of the District’s Sewer 
Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program of 2024, resulting in additional expenses to the District this year 
with recovery of those expenses to take place over the next 10 years.  
 
The Miscellaneous revenue account allows various incidental or one-off payments to be deposited into the 
District’s operating account. Staff does not forecast a budget in this category, as they are difficult to project, but 
has included a small placeholder based on last year’s budget to assist with future accounting if needed.  
 
Capital Contributions / Capacity Related Revenue 
 
Annexation, Capital Facilities Charges (“CFC”), and Connections Fee activity for remodel permits and Accessory 
Dwelling Units (“ADUs”) has increased from prior years. CFC’s can be paid over 2 years as the project is 
developed. While the District is substantially built out and the pace of development is difficult to predict, staff are 
aware of a few large-scale development projects which are anticipated to be approved for connecting to the 
sewer system in 2024-2025. Staff is conservatively budgeting $320,420 in receipts for capital facility charges for 
2024-2025 primarily the result of the two large projects currently under development. 
 
State and local governments are looking at laws to allow additional expansion of ADUs to create more affordable 
housing and provide flexibility for families who wish to build a second unit on their property. ADUs are normally 
not subject to capacity or connection fees but can be billed a SSC depending on the size and number of units. 
A capacity fee study by HDR Engineering was completed in 2022 which, based on the cost-of-service for 
connecting to the system, adjusted the CFCs that can be imposed on development. Annexation and development 
fees are separate from the CFC connection fees. The interest income for this category is for existing CPC funds 
held on deposit, which must be expended only for capital projects that increase capacity to either the collection 
system or treatment plant. 
 

54



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

3 
 

Marin Municipal Water District (“MMWD”) entered into an agreement in March 2017, to buy into the existing 
capacity of the Recycled Water Treatment Facility as well as participating in the debt service of the 2017 Revenue 
Bonds associated with the estimated cost for the expansion of the facility. Through May 2023, the MMWD buy-
in and debt service funds were allocated to the Capital Reserves for their shared cost of the expansion project. 
Now that the project is completed, the buy-in and debt service payments received from MMWD will be allocated 
to undesignated Capital Reserves for future use by the District. In addition, per the agreement, MMWD and 
LGVSD will meet after Notice of Completion is filed to review the construction costs of the projects and adjust 
the buy-in amount based on actual final costs of the project. The Marin Municipal Water District Inter-
Governmental capital contribution revenue line item includes $242,000 in 2024-2025 as a placeholder for 
anticipated revenue from the buy-in adjustment.  
 
There is only one pending disbursement of $567,760 from the IBank loan remaining, which will be disbursed 
once the Notice of Completion for the Secondary Treatment Plant Upgrade and Recycled Water (“STPURWE”) 
project is filed. The remaining funds will be returned to the general fund as STPURWE expenditures have already 
been paid. The disbursement budgeted is reflected in the Other category on the charts on the following pages. 
 
Federal and State grants may become available for wastewater infrastructure projects, but no specific grant has 
been identified let alone secured. The District has contracted with a consultant to pursue alternative funding and 
is in process of hiring a staff person to pursue and manage grants, and is collaborating with partner agencies, 
such as North Bay Water Reuse Authority, to investigate grant opportunities. It is wise for the District to design 
construction-ready projects to take advantage of any grants that become available, but it would not be prudent 
to anticipate revenue from grants at this time. A Zero Waste Marin reimbursement grant of $5,000 is anticipated 
in 2024-2025 to offset the District’s cost for various waste reduction laws and support projects that move Marin’s 
communities to Zero Waste.  
 
Utilization of Bond Funds and Reserves  
 
The Private Sewer Lateral (“PSL”) Assistance Program has continued to collect reimbursements for loans made 
to property owners. The program has become self-funded, with sufficient revenue coming from repayment by 
property owners to fund 
assistance to new property 
owners wishing to take 
advantage of the program. The 
balance in this program as of 
June 30, 2024 is anticipated to 
be $411,350. Anticipated 
revenue of $100,000 will help 
offset the $187,800 in budgeted 
expenses for new assistance 
payments in 2024-2025.  
 
The District has previously 
budgeted for projects that have 
not yet begun or are in the 
middle of construction, which 
has created carry-over capital 
funding that is available for 

Sewer Charge
50.74%

Property Taxes
3.22%

ERAF
1.17%

Interest income
1.99%

Grants
0.01%

Recycled water
0.35%

Lateral 
Assistance Prog.

0.24%

Reserves/Bond/
Capacity Fund

32.38%

IBank, MMWD 
Buy‐In Franchise, 

& Other
3.67%

Unrestricted 
Cash
6.23%

FISCAL YEAR 2024‐2025 TOTAL REVENUE SOURCES 
$41,127,060

55



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

4 
 

continuing projects. These projects are included in the Capital Outlay budget. Any unused funding allocated to 
these projects will carry forward into 2024-2025. A total of $12,255,708 of prior-year capital carry-over is 
budgeted for use in 2024-2025.  
 
Capital Reserves used for the STPURWE Project were depleted by May 2023. The Marin Municipal Water 
District (“MMWD”) Buy-In and their share of debt service payments collected for the STPURWE project and held 
in this reserve was used towards the completion of the project. The projected Capital Reserve beginning balance 
for 2024-2025 of $9,318,529 includes $6,000,000 designated for the Laboratory/Education Center/Board Room 
project which is one component of the operations and administration building projects. Additional funding and 
reallocation from undesignated capital reserves will bring the designated ending balance for the building projects 
to $9,000,000 and the undesignated reserves to $1,500,000. There is no planned use of these funds in 2024-
2025.  
 
Transfers from the Capacity / Connection Fee Facilities Fund, which has been growing as fees for new or 
additional connections to system are paid by developers, can be used to pay for collection system and plant 
capacity improvements necessary to serve those connections. There is no planned use of these funds budgeted 
for 2024-2025. 
 
Transfers from the Marin Lagoon and Captains Cove restricted funds can be used towards repayment of 
operating and capital costs, including capital replacement and Board authorized capital projects, incurred for 
Marin Lagoon and Captains Cove collection systems. A total of $53,800 is budgeted for 2024-2025. 
 
The Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement fund established in May 2023 is expected to have an 
ending balance of $17,520 as of June 30, 2025. Both LGVSD and MMWD are required to each contribute 10% 
of their portion of recycled water operating and maintenance expenses to this fund annually. 
 
The graph below shows the composition of District revenues for the past five fiscal years plus the projected 
2023-2024 and Proposed budget for 2024-2025. 

 $‐
 $4,000,000
 $8,000,000

 $12,000,000
 $16,000,000
 $20,000,000
 $24,000,000
 $28,000,000
 $32,000,000
 $36,000,000
 $40,000,000

2
0
1
9
‐2
0

2
0
2
0
‐2
1

2
0
2
1
‐2
2

2
0
2
2
‐2
3

2
0
2
3
‐2
4

 2
0
2
4
‐2
5

Revenue Sources 2020 to 2025 IBank, MMWD Buy‐In 
Franchise, & Other

Reserves/Bond/
Capacity Fund

Lateral Assistance Prog.

Recycled water

Grants

Interest income

ERAF

Property Taxes

Sewer Charge

56



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

5 

EXPENDITURES	
 

The Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which is recognized as the official source of GAAP for 
state and local governments, establishes modified accrual accounting standards. Modified accrual accounting 
is used and accepted by governmental agencies because they focus on current-year obligations. Las Gallinas 
Valley Sanitary District Policy F-40-20 (Basis of Budgeting) required that all budgetary procedures conform to 
state regulations and generally accepted accounting principles. As such, the District uses a modified accrual 
basis of accounting for reporting on budgeted versus actual expenditures, with the following exceptions: 

 
 Grant revenues are budgeted on a modified cash basis rather than an accrual basis. 

 Fixed assets are depreciated for some financial reporting but are fully expensed in the year acquired for 
budgetary purposes. 

 
Modified accrual accounting is an alternative bookkeeping method that combines accrual-basis accounting with 
cash-basis accounting. It recognizes revenues when they become available and measurable and, with a few 
exceptions, records expenditures when liabilities are incurred. 
 
The General Manager and Administrative Services Manager are responsible for development of internal 
accounting policies and procedures necessary to implement financial policies and to ensure that internal 
controls, processes, and procedures follow the California State Controller’s Office Internal Control Guidelines 
pursuant to CGC section 12422.5 and are adequate to protect the finances of the District. 
 
Expenditures of the District are broken down into the following categories:  
  

1. Operations and 
Maintenance 
Expenses (including 
salary & benefits)  

2. Debt Service 

3. Reserve Funding 

4. Capital Outlay 

 
The District’s largest 
expenditure category is 
Capital Outlay followed by 
Operations and Maintenance. 
The operations and 
maintenance expense, debt 
service, reserve and 
restricted funding, and capital 
outlay financials have been 
reviewed and comments on 
key items of interest are being provided to the Board to facilitate discussion. The Board can review its reserve 
policy and establish reserve funding targets for the Operating & Rate Stabilization Reserve, Emergency 
Repair, Capital Reserves, and Vehicle and Equipment Reserve as part of the budget process. 
 

Salary & Benefits
$8,048,400 

20%

Operations & 
Maintenance
$5,777,100 

14%

Debt Service
$4,506,819 

11%
Reserve 
Funding

…

Capital Outlay
$19,915,828 

48%

PROPOSED BUDGET FY 2024‐2025

57



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

6 

Operations and Maintenance Expenses 
 
Employee Expenses: 
 

Employee wages and benefits have risen over recent years as staff positions have been added. The Proposed 
budget shows actual change over 2023-2024 is projected to be 11.5%. A 3% cost-of-living adjustment effective 
July 1, 2024 is factored into the budget. The budget includes funding for one additional Full-Time Equivalent 
(“FTE”) position proposed for 2024-2025, which may consist of two part-time staff, that would be created for the 
“Operator-In-Training” (“OIT”) apprenticeship program to support the treatment plant be developed in late 2024. 
The budget for 2024-2025 is based on the District maintaining full-staffing levels throughout the year and includes 
adding $100,000 for the OIT program and for contract personnel to support the engineering department later this 
year. 

 
Payroll taxes, group life insurance, CalPERS retirement, Health benefits, Dental, and Vision insurance are 
projected to increase over prior year actuals as new employees are hired to fill approved and proposed positions. 
 
CalPERS contributions are projected from regular wages with the published employer contribution rate of 16.02% 
for classic members (up slightly from 15.95%) and 7.87% (up from 7.68%) for PEPRA in 2024-2025. Staff who 
became CalPERS members after 2013 are covered by the PEPRA plan which requires lower retirement 
contributions by the District. PEPRA employees are required to contribute 8% towards their retirement per MOU. 
The District’s share of CalPERS contributions in 2024-2025 is projected to increase 1.5% over prior year actuals. 
 
Health insurance is projected based on the known rates for July through December 2024 and the application of 
an estimated health insurance trend rate of +1% for the remainder of 2024-2025. CalPERS Health will set the 
coverage rates for 2025 in the summer of 2024. The expense also reflects costs associated with one new 
proposed position for 2024-2025. Other Post-Employment Benefits (“OPEB”) retiree health benefits for prior 
employees and pre-funded expenditures for current employees based on the GASB 75 actuarial valuation 
measurement date June 30, 2022 are included under health benefit expenses. 
 

Collection System 
and Pump Stations

21%

Wastewater 
Treatment

36%

Sewage and solid 
waste disposal

2%

Laboratory
5%

Engineering
8%

Recycled Water 
Production

1%

Administration 
and General

27%

O&M EXPENSE BY FUNCTION 

58



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

7 

The Auto Allowance is a vehicle allowance benefit for management employees who have this benefit included 
in their contracts. Managers who opt to use a District vehicle are not entitled to the auto allowance. A cost-of-
living adjustment for the vehicle Auto Allowance will be made on July 1, 2025.  
 
Proposed New Program and Position: 
 

Board Financial Policy F-40-40 grants exclusive authority to the Board to increase the number of authorized staff 
at the District. Historically, new staff positions are considered as part of the budget process. After a review of 
operational needs management is recommending the creation of an “Operator-In-Training” (“OIT”) 
apprenticeship program and the addition of one FTE position, increasing the FTE positions at the District from 
thirty-one to thirty-two. The following program is proposed: 
 
OIT Program and Plant Operator-in-Training 
 
An OIT program would allow management to create either one full-time or two part-time positions to work at the 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District Treatment Plant, learning new skills and helping existing operators and lab 
staff with the operation of the plant. Both Central Marin Sanitation Agency and Napa Sanitation District have OIT 
programs. The first-year cost to implement the program is estimated to be $60,000. Beginning in 2026, the 
annual cost of the program would be between $120,000 and $150,000 depending on the candidate’s 
qualifications, whether they are full or part time, whether they qualify for the District’s CalPERS retirement plan, 
and whether they take advantage of the District’s paid CalPERS Health family benefit option. There may be 
opportunities to offset some costs through educational internship/apprenticeship funding sources.  
 
The job classifications for the Plant OIT and Lab Analyst-in-Training already exists and the positions are on the 
District’s Pay Schedule. Upon Board approval of the budget and authorization to increase staff count, 
management can begin designing the program and plan for hiring for the apprenticeship program in late 2024. 
 
Insurance: 
 

Workers compensation insurance is based on projected wages for 2024-2025, plus the addition of full-time 
positions being filled, and a decrease in the experience modification factor from 0.89 to 0.70 based on the 
District’s recent claims history. The Workers Compensation Insurance Rating Board (WCIRB) continues to use 
the simplified Experience Rating Formula which removes the first $250 of each claim for the calculation. The 
decrease in the projected 2024-2023 actuals is attributable to the lower experience modification factor for the 
July 1, 2023 to July 1,2024 period. 
 
Pooled liability insurance includes general liability and mobile equipment, billed separately. The general liability 
insurance premium period is based on a calendar year and the mobile equipment on a fiscal year basis. The 
liability insurance is the larger premium for which the yearly cost is known based on the current billing, and a 
modest increase of 3% over 2023 has been calculated for liability insurance. The insurance invoice for the July 
1, 2024 to June 30, 2025 term has not yet been received.  
 
Property insurance is reported on the same line item with general liability. Since 2018, significant events have 
driven the property insurance market to tighten substantially. Prior events in 2020 and 2021 have further 
aggravated market conditions and the firming trend is expected to continue. Property insurance rates are forecast 
to increase 6% or an additional $10,320 because of market conditions. In addition, the new construction values 
related to the STPURWE Project were added to the insured Schedule of Values (SOV) which will increase the 
Total Insurance Value by an additional 7.5%, resulting in an additional $12,900 premium increase at renewal in 
2024-2025. 

59



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

8 

Repairs and Maintenance: 
 

Most repairs and maintenance expenses are coordinated by the Maintenance Supervisor, but actual expenses 
related to assets are allocated to the respective financial class Collection System, Pump Station, Treatment 
Plant, or Recycled Water for proper accounting. Management work together to authorize and approve expenses. 
Inflation and logistic delays have continued to have an impact on the costs of parts and services in 2024 but are 
stabilizing. It is anticipated that continued inflationary factors will influence costs into 2025 with an increase in 
the range of 3% to 6% over current costs. The Repair and Maintenance Proposed budget for 2024-2025 will be 
under the prior year’s budget by $153,900 (-20.7%) but over the projected actual expenses by $180,763 (31.3%). 
The primary drivers of increased maintenance costs in 2024-2025 are: 
 

 Algae control at the reclamation storage pond is expected to cost $80,000. This is periodically performed 
and is not an annual expense. Other incidental maintenance costs include the building and grounds 
maintenance which includes having an outside firm perform yard work on the main building landscape, 
and includes expenses related to maintenance work performed by the District’s skilled maintenance 
employees. Monthly Jefferson Security Fire Suppression monitoring is also included under the repair and 
maintenance budget. 

 Bio-Wheel chain sprocket units and additional pumps will be ordered as inventory for emergency pump 
replacements and Bio-Wheel repairs. $50,000 has been added to the Capital Repair and Replacement 
budget for the pumps and $50,000 for the Bio-Wheel chain sprocket units. Capital repairs/replacements 
consist of items that are long-lived or life extending in nature but are not included in the capital 
improvements budget. They are either items that are capital in nature, but the replacement/repair is not 
anticipated as part of the initial capital outlay budget or items such as small pumps and equipment with 
a cost under the $5,000 capitalization threshold.  

 
Other Operating Expenses: 
 

Other operating expenses include supplies and contracted services to support the operations at the treatment 
plant, pump stations, and administration of the District. 
 

 Chemical costs make up the largest percentage of supplies required by the District. The amount budgeted 
for supplies and small tools is  $850,200, and  of that $633,800 is for chemicals. The District is a member 
of the Bay Area Chemical Consortium (“BACC”) which assists the District in obtaining the most 
competitive unit pricing. Unit prices beginning July 1 for sodium hypochlorite will increase 12.86% and 
sodium bisulfite will decrease 11%, offsetting each other and resulting in a modest increase in chemical 
costs of $17,000 over the current year. 

 Outside contracted services include services related to personnel and HR services, guard service, labor 
relations, janitorial services, security patrols and alarm monitoring, portable restroom rentals, alternate 
grant funding studies, and other incidental outside operating expenses. 

 Sludge injection and land disposal of biosolids is normally an operational expense of the wastewater 
treatment process. During the first year of the Biosolids Program Monitoring Research project, land 
application was performed as part of the biosolids feasibility study and sludge was injected into the 
Districts dedicated disposal site. The associated costs related to land disposal of solids, required as part 
of the ongoing study, was charged to the Biosolids Program Monitoring Research project. As we enter 
the second year of the study, a call for bids for Biosolids Land Application Services for 2024 went out. 
Coordination with the USEPA Research Team is a small component of the bid requirements with the cost 

60



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

9 

anticipated to be only a fraction of total project costs. The Proposed budget includes $380,000 as an 
operational expense based on the prior year’s cost of sludge injection and land disposal. 

 Consultants include costs for climate assessments, Canada goose project and reporting to NPDES, 
MMWD water data review and rate setting assistance, recruitment, labor relations, and for organizational 
and Board development. 

 Feasibility studies that are not capital improvement or capacity related are treated as an operational 
expense. Unspent funding of $64,000 for the North Bay Water Reuse Authority (NBWRA) drought 
contingency and sea-level rise resilience studies have been carried forward to fiscal year 2024-2025. No 
additional operational feasibility studies have been identified for 2024-2025, but once the Integrated 
Wastewater Master Plan is complete, management expects feasibility studies will be undertaken. A 
placeholder of $10,000 is included for an operational study in the Proposed budget. 

 The financial services budget includes $60,000 to contract with an independent financial advisor to 
identify debt financing and/or bond issuance options for the John Duckett Pump Station and Multi-Use 
Laboratory building construction projects. Additional financial services include actuarial valuations, sewer 
rate studies, and arbitrage compliance services.  

 The Private Lateral Rehabilitation Assistance Program (“PLRAP”) budget has been increased to 
$187,800. The PLRAP was established to help property owners pay for repairing or replacing their lower 
and upper private sewer lateral. Under this program, the District will advance the property owner up to 
$10,000 to be repaid semi-annually, over ten years at flat 2% interest. In the upcoming months, the 
District will be repairing or replacing multiple sewer main line segments as part of its Sewer Main 
Collection System Rehabilitation Program, which will affect 100-150 residential and commercial parcels 
depending on the scope of work. It is expected that 10% of these property owners would take advantage 
the PLRAP to coordinate replacement of their upper lateral. 

 
General and Administrative: 
 

General and Administrative expenses round out the Operations and Maintenance expenses of the District. The 
expenses under this category are District wide and benefit all departments. 
 

 Election costs are budged at $25,000 bi-annually, every even fiscal year, and is based on estimated 
billings from the Marin County Registrar of Voters. The next election is November 2024. 

 Computer Services and Software includes annual software renewals, outside computer network support, 
Zoom video conference, and other incidental computer software products. As software companies move 
away from providing owned software licenses and switch to a Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”) licensing 
and delivery model, in which software is licensed on a subscription basis and is centrally hosted, the 
District will see these expenses rise. CityWorks and ArcGIS follow the multi-year SaaS licensing models. 
Other software such as SCADA, Caselle, and Microsoft Office which have software license agreements 
for one-year or less are treated as incidental software licenses. Computer equipment below the capital 
asset threshold is replaced as needed under the Office Supplies & Equipment cost center.  

 Public education and outreach expenses are for the joint efforts with other Marin County wastewater 
treatment agencies, web site maintenance, donation requests from community groups for funding, special 
mailings and for the District’s newsletter and annual sewer rate change mailings. 

 Rents and leases include the annual administration office lease at 101 Lucas Valley Road ($114,900), 
lease of the postage machine, off-site records storage, railroad easements and copiers. The lease for 
the administration office is up for renewal on December 1, 2024 and an increase in rent is anticipated. 

61



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

10 

 Employee training and education includes the cost for the District to participate in the Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore employment relations consortium and other offsite training. Management training and coaching 
has been added to the budget for all managers and supervisors following the 2024 FutureSense climate 
assessment report. An increase in offsite training conferences in 2024 and 2025 is expected, and the 
budget reflects this increase over the current year actuals. 

 

Debt Service 
 

The District has five issuances of debt outstanding. They are as follows: 
 

 Certificates of Participation (COP) with an original principal amount of $10,000,000, which were issued 
in 2005, and have annual principal and interest payments through December 2025. The District 
refinanced them at a reduced interest rate of 3.3% which will save interest over the remaining life and 
will result in lower annual payments. The principal balance remaining is scheduled to be $1,408,800 as 
of July 1, 2024. 

 State Revolving Fund Loan (SRF) was a construction loan which originated in 2010 and was completely 
drawn down in 2012. The original principal amount was $4,314,750 with annual principal and interest 
payments through June 2032. The interest rate is 2.7%. The principal balance remaining is scheduled to 
be $2,029,476 as of July 1, 2024. 

 Bank of Marin Loan #1 which originated in 2011 with a principal amount of $4,600,000. Monthly principal 
and interest payments are due through June 2031. The interest rate is 3.88%. The principal balance 
remaining is scheduled to be $2,032,589 as of July 1, 2024. 

 2017 Revenue Bonds were issued in April 2017 with a principal amount of $38,365,000. The true interest 
rate to maturity is 3.2984%. Annual principal and interest payments are due through April 2042. The 
principal balance remaining is scheduled to be $31,110,000 as of July 1, 2024. 

 The District entered into an agreement with California Infrastructure and Economic Development Bank 
(IBank) in May 2019 for a loan of $12,000,000. The loan has a maturity date ranging from August 1, 2019 
through August 1, 2043. The interest rate on the loan is 3.0% per annum. The principal balance remaining 
is scheduled to be $10,252,581 as of July 1, 2024. An annual service fee, $30,758 for 2024-2025, is 
treated as an Operating & Maintenance expense but recognized as debt service for budget purposes. 
The annual fee is not reported as a long-term obligation in audited financials. 

 
The debt service does not reflect the reimbursement to be received from MMWD for buying into the existing 
recycled water treatment facility or their portion of the 2017 Revenue Bonds. The payments received from 
MMWD are deposited into the operating account for use to pay their share of debt service for the recycled water 
treatment facility improvements. Choosing to recognize debt service payments from MMWD as a reimbursement 
to the general operating account for debt service payments, rather than funding of the capital reserve, results in 
the District’s 2017 Revenue Bonds debt obligation being lower. 
 
The Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) for the District for 2024-2025, based on the presented budget and 
debt service, is determined by dividing the Net Operating Income ($10,682,420) by Total Debt Service 
($4,506,819). The calculated DSCR for 2024-2025 is therefore 2.37.  The District is required to maintain a DSCR 
of 1.25 or higher due to bond covenants and we are above this minimum. The District includes both its operating 
income and non-operating income, primarily guaranteed property taxes, in determining its Net Operating Income 
which is used in the calculation of DSCR. When specifically included in a utility’s bond indenture, rate stabilization 
reserves can be used to help meet debt service coverage requirements during times of revenue shortfalls. 

62



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

11 

Reserves 
 

District Financial Policy F-50 (Reserves) establishes reserves, explains the purpose and reasons for the size of 
each reserve, and provides for oversight of reserves. 
 

 Operating & Rate Stabilization Reserve has a target of a minimum balance equal to 7 months of average 
annual budgeted expenses. Based on reserve fund policy the reserve target for 2024-2025 is 
approximately $10,100,000 and the reserve will have a balance of $4,247,894 at the beginning of the 
upcoming fiscal year. The budget includes adding $585,211, one-tenth of the reserve target shortfall, to 
the budget for 2024-2025. The reserve has been established to fund unexpected expense increases and 
can be used to help stabilize sewer service charge rate swings.  

 Emergency repair reserve target is $1,500,000 and can be used to fund emergency repairs. Any shortfall 
in the reserve is to be built up over 2-3 years. The budget is proposing $111,111 be added to the reserve 
in 2024-2025. 

 Capital Reserves contains both designated and undesignated funds for capital projects. The target of 
$11,000,000 includes $9,000,000 designated for the construction of the Operation Control Center OCC 
/ Administration building and the Multi-Use Laboratory / Education Center / Board Room building. The 
Proposed budget for 2024-2025 includes adding an additional $1,018,529 to the Designated Capital 
Reserve for this project and reallocating $1,318,529 from the undesignated balance to designated capital 
reserve balance. The budget authorizes $500,000 for use towards the corporation yard design project.  

 Vehicle and Equipment Reserve (VERF) was established in Fiscal Year 2019-2020 to fund vehicle and 
equipment replacements. The reserve was targeted at $1,000,000. A total of $100,000 will be added to 
replenish the VERF and $584,043 will be used to purchase vehicles and equipment listed on the Capital 
Outlay budget in 2024-2025. 

 Capacity Connection Fee reserve fund is restricted for the use of collection system and plant capacity 
improvements to serve the new connections that contributed to the fund through fees collected. The 
budget includes the addition of $342,200 to the reserve.  

 Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon are restricted reserves built up when there is an excess of special 
assessments over projected operations, maintenance and capital expenditures which are collected for 
these developments. Both funds will be drawn down to pay for operational and capital projects. A rate 
surcharge rate study was undertaken as part of the 2023 Sewer Service Rate Study, and it determined 
that Captains Cove and Marin Lagoon contributions are sufficient to continue the ongoing operations and 
maintenance needs of the pump stations serving these communities. Larger capital improvement projects 
may require an increase in the surcharge in a future fiscal year budget. 

 Recycled Water Capital Repair and Replacement restricted reserve fund was created in May 2023. 
LGVSD and MMWD are required to contribute 10% of their portion of annual recycled water O&M costs 
into this restricted fund for future capital expenditures to the Recycled Water Treatment Facility. A total 
of $17,520 will be added to the restricted fund in 2024-2025. 

 

Capital Outlay 
 

The District is required to budget for the adequate maintenance of capital equipment and facilities to protect the 
public investment and ensure achievement of their maximum useful life. The District is required to prepare and 
adopt a at minimum a 5-Year Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) as part of the rate setting process that 
identifies and sets priorities for all major capital assets to be acquired, constructed, or replaced by the District. 

63



Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
Proposed Budget – 2024-2025 

12 

The District has chosen to prepare a 7-Year CIP which includes a biosolids program and flood and sea-level 
mitigation projects that have been identified to take place after 2027. District policy requires the CIP be included 
in the adopted budget and that the status of the CIP is updated annually as part of the budget process. 
 
The CIP identifies adequate funding to support the acquisition, construction and replacement of assets identified 
in the plan, and identifies projects that the District believes beneficial to the system, but funding has not yet been 
identified. The CIP includes and indicates when and for what projects the District intends to finance through the 
issuance of debt. Additionally, the District strives to develop a comprehensive strategy and funding plan for the 
renewal and replacement of existing capital assets. 
 
The Capital Outlay budget contains projects specifically identified in the 7-Year CIP for 2024-2025 through 
2030-2031 plus miscellaneous capital needs that change yearly. The proposed 2024-2025 Budget only 
includes funding approval for projects identified in the first year of the CIP and contains the list of projects to be 
funded with the adoption of this budget. The additional projects listed in the CIP are proposed for future years 
and they will require their own funding approval as part of their respective yearly budget.  
 
Collection system projects, including the Smith Ranch Pump Station Electrical Upgrade and restarting of the 
Sewer Main Collection System Rehabilitation Program, will comprise most of the capital budget in 2024-2025, 
with total collection system project costs budgeted at $8,413,397. 
 
Authorization to proceed with the Primary Effluent Pump Station and Secondary Clarifier Expansion project to 
eliminate blending by increasing treatment capacity to 24 MGD was approved by the Board on May 16, 2024 
has been added to the Capital Outlay budget. Unspent funding from the STPURWE project was allocated to 
partially fund this new project with the remaining funding source coming from unrestricted funds in 2024-2025.  
 
The following is a graph showing the composition of District expenditures for the past four (4) fiscal years plus 
this upcoming budget year of 2024-2025. O&M expenses have increased an average of 13.5% a year over 
three years and 14.3% over five years.  
 

 
 

** Supporting Financial Statements are attached to this report on the following pages ** 

$7,840,695  $9,498,124  $10,152,676  $11,433,011 
$13,825,500 

1,546,650 
2,624,414 

4,992,112 
4,886,085 

2,878,913 

1,546,650 

2,624,414 

4,992,112  4,886,085  2,878,913 
17,912,279 

12,784,041 

9,143,294  5,970,772 

19,915,828 

 $‐

 $4,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $12,000,000

 $16,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $24,000,000

 $28,000,000

 $32,000,000

 $36,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $44,000,000

FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023 FY 2024 FY 2025

Expenditures FY 2021 to FY 2025

Operations and Maintenance Debt Service Reserves Capital Projects from All Sources

Operations and Maintenance Expense Trend line
Average increase 14.3% over 5‐years

64



Resolution No. 2024-2333  Page 1 of 2 

RESOLUTION No. 2024-2333 
 

A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 
APPROPRIATION OF TAX PROCEEDS 

 
LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 
 

RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin 

County, California, that the calculated maximum limit applicable to the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 

appropriations of tax proceeds is $3,557,446 in accordance with Article XlllB of the Constitution 

of the State of California.  The Board selects the change in California per capita income as the 

cost of living factor to be used in the calculation of the appropriation limit.  The Board selects the 

change in population of Marin County as the change of population factor to be used in the 

calculation of the appropriations limit.  The District’s Fiscal Year 2024-2025 appropriations 

subject to tax proceeds limitations are $1,014,667. Detailed schedules are hereto attached as 

Exhibit A and by reference incorporated herein. 

 
*   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   * 

 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of a Resolution duly and 

regularly passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, 

Marin County, California, at a meeting thereof held on June 20, 2024 by the following vote of the 

members thereof: 

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members:  

 NOES, Members:   

 ABSENT, Members: 

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

 
         _______________________________ 

Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

APPROVED: 
 
          (seal) 
_____________________________ 
Craig K. Murray,  President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 
 
 
 
 

65



Resolution No. 2024-2334  Page 1 of 1 

RESOLUTION No. 2024-2334 
 

A RESOLUTION REQUESTING ALLOCATION OF TAXES 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 

 
LAS GALLINAS VALLEY SANITARY DISTRICT 

 
   RESOLVED, by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin County, 

California, as follows: 

 1.  That the minimum amount of money required by said District to be raised by taxes 

during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2025 for the purpose of paying the maintenance and operation 

expense of said District, as it comes due, is the amount of $1,297,000 

 2. That it is hereby estimated that said sum is the minimum amount of money required by 

said District for such purposes during said ensuing fiscal year. 

 3. That said Sanitary Board further respectfully requests the Honorable Board of 

Supervisors of the County of Marin to direct the County Auditor to allocate to the Las Gallinas Valley 

Sanitary District the amount of $1,297,000 or such other amount as shall be determined to be said 

District’s share of the Fiscal Year 2024-2025 property tax revenue generated pursuant to Section 93 of 

the Revenue and Taxation Code and allocated pursuant to Section 97 of said Code. 

*   *   *   *   *   *   *   *   * 

     I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly 

passed and adopted by the Sanitary Board of the Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District, Marin County, 

California, at a meeting thereof held on June 20, 2024, by the following vote of the members thereof: 

AYES, and in the favor thereof, Members:  

NOES, Members:  

 ABSENT, Members:   

 ABSTAIN, Members: 

____________________________________ 
Teresa L. Lerch, Board Secretary 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

 
APPROVED: 
          (seal) 
 
__________________________ 
Craig K. Murray,  President 
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District 

66



Resolution No. 2024-2333  Page 2 of 2 

 

        EXHIBIT A 
CALCULATION OF APPROPRIATION LIMIT FOR 

2024-25 PROCEEDS OF TAXES 

         
Appropriations Adjustment Limit Factors         Calculated Maximum Limit 

         
CPI 2024-25  1.0362       
Population 2023-24 x 0.9947 Growth for Marin County    
Combined Factor  1.0307       

   $3,451,458  x 1.0307 = $3,557,446   

         
Appropriations Subject to Limitation 2024-25      

   Amount      
Proceeds of Taxes   $1,461,260      
Exclusions    $446,592      
Appropriations Subject to 
Limitation $1,014,667      

                  

         
CPI 2023-24  1.0444       
Population 2022-23 x 0.9894 Growth for Marin County    
Combined Factor  1.0333       

   $3,340,134  x 1.0333 = $3,451,458   
                  

         
CPI 2022-23  1.0755       
Population 2021-22 x 0.9894 Growth for Marin County    
Combined Factor  1.0641       

   $3,138,929  x 1.0641 = $3,340,134   
                  

 

67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



 
 

 Page 1 of 2 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors   

From: Sahar Golshani, Environmental Services Supervisor  

 Sgolshani@lgvsd.org 415-526-1514 

Mtg. Date: June 20, 2024 

Re: Proposal for Laboratory Information Management System Software  

Item Type:   Consent__ X ____ Discussion______ Information______ Other________  

Standard Contract:    Yes_X__   No_____(See attached)  Not Applicable_______ 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Board to approve Ethosoft three-year contract proposal for furnishing Laboratory Information Management 
System (XLIMS) Software for the period of July 1, 2024, to June 30, 2027. The initial project cost is 
$37,550, and the annual cloud cost is $12,850. 

BACKGROUND 
 
The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (LGVSD) aims to upgrade its laboratory management systems 
to enhance data accuracy, streamline workflows, and improve compliance with the NELAC Institution 
Standards (TNI-2) requirements. Following a thorough evaluation, Ethosoft, Inc. was selected over 
ATLab Inc. as the preferred vendor based on several key factors: 
 
 
Cost: Ethosoft, Inc. offered a more competitive pricing structure. 
 

• Initial Project & Annual Cloud Costs: 
 

o Ethosoft, Inc.: $50,400 (Initial Project Cost: $37,550 - Annual Cloud Cost: $12,850) 
o ATLab Inc.: $62,955 

 
Value to the District Laboratory: 
 

1. Quality Control 
2. Workflow Management 
3. Inventory Tracking 
4. Custody Tracking 
5. Audit Anywhere 
6. Scheduler 
7. Document Exchange 
8. Reporting Tool 

 
 
 

Item Number_______4H_______ 

GM Review   ____CP__________ 

 

93

mailto:Sgolshani@lgvsd.org


 
 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
Reputation: Ethosoft, Inc. has been positively reviewed by several organizations including EBMUD, 
FSSD, CCCSD, and LASCD for their services. 
 
The evaluation criteria included: 
 

1. Adherence to software implementation timelines 
2. Software effectiveness 
3. Minimization of errors 
4. Time savings for staff 
5. User-friendly interface 
6. Comprehensive post-implementation support (staff training, software maintenance, and 

upgrades) 
7. Compliance with TNI standards 
8. Cost-effectiveness  

 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
NA 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  
 
The draft FY2024/2025 budgeted amount for LIMS software is $50,400. 
 
 
 
 

94



 

 

 Page 1 of 1 

  Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 
To: Board of Directors 
From: Michael P. Cortez, PE, District Engineer 
 (415) 526-1518; mcortez@lgvsd.org  
Mtg. Date: June 20, 2024 

Re: Award of Contract – Biosolids Land Application Services 2024 

Item Type:   Consent     X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes       X    No     (See attached) Not Applicable             . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Board to waive all bid irregularities and approve the award of contract to Custom Tractor Service 
for the Biosolids Land Application Services 2024 Project in the amount of $225,000. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On June 13, 2024, the District opened bids for the Biosolids Land Application Services 2024 
project in response to the Notice Inviting Sealed Bids issued on April 19, 2024. Custom Tractor 
Service (CTS) was the sole bidder at $225,000. The bid price is within the range of expected 
costs based on last year’s contract price with Synagro. The Engineer’s estimate is $300,000 and 
within the Operations Department’s budget for FY 2023-24. 
 
CTS’s proposal is incomplete as to form and includes bid irregularities such as missing bid bond, 
non-collusion affidavit, and statement of experience. Moreover, CTS noted exclusions such as the 
preparation of documents for permitting, testing, reporting, and monitoring requirements 
associated with the District’s NOA permit issued by the Regional Water Board and the ongoing 
USEPA Purdue University PFAS Research Program. After a follow-up meeting with GHD, the 
project manager agreed to assist CTS with the preparation of contractual documents related to 
the research program and Regional Water Board requirements. However, CTS indicated in the 
bid its willingness to coordinate and perform all manual labor such as seeding and harvesting 
associated with such requirements. 
 
District staff conducted a brief post bid meeting with CTS owner, Neal Carstensen, and he 
reaffirmed his willingness to assist with the successful completion of the project like he has done 
for the past 20+ years as District’s contractor for most work associated with the reclamation area. 
 
PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
N/A 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
$225,000 

Item Number_______4I___________ 

GM Review   
___CP_______________ 

 

95

mailto:mcortez@lgvsd.org


 

 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Newsletter\ASR Approve Summer 2024 Newsletter.docx Page 1 of 1 

Agenda Summary Report                                            
         

 

To: Board of Directors 

From: Dale McDonald, Administrative Services Manager  
 (415) 526-1519   dmcdonald@lgvsd.org 
Meeting Date: June 20, 2024 

Re: Approve Summer 2024 Heron Newsletter 

Item Type:   Consent X  Action        Information  Other             . 

Standard Contract:    Yes     No  (See attached) Not Applicable      X       . 
 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Board approve the publication of the Summer 2024 Heron Newsletter. 

BACKGROUND 
The District produces a newsletter approximately every six (6) months to update customers 
regarding subjects of interest about the District. Each newsletter typically has one main topic and 
three to four smaller articles. A primary theme throughout the newsletter is the critical need to 
continue investing in capital improvements to maintain and protect the District’s infrastructure to 
meet the District’s goals of providing reliable service while protecting the environment. 
 
On June 6, 2024, the newsletter was reviewed by the Board and suggested changes to the article 
Join the Leading Edge of Public and Environmental Health were made. Additional links to local 
schools and how to get into the wastewater field were added. 
 
The newsletter will be mailed in late June or early July. 

PREVIOUS BOARD ACTION 
On April 4, 2024, the Board discussed potential newsletter topics and gave staff direction to 
develop the newsletter. The following topics were chosen: 

• Award of architectural design contract for Lab / Board / Education Center building 

• Careers in the Wastewater Industry  

• Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District: 70 years of Service to Marin Residents 

• Newest Board Member 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
The newsletter is budgeted in the 2023-24 Budget as part of the District’s public outreach. 

Item Number_______4J_______ 

GM Review   ________CP______ 

96

mailto:dmcdonald@lgvsd.org


The Heron
L a s  G a l l i n a s  V a l l e y  S a n i t a r y  D i s t r i c t

Summer 2024

Recognizing 70 Years of Service to 
Marin County Residents
Did you know that the Las 
Gallinas Valley Sanitary District is 
actually part of the baby boomer 
generation? The District was “born” 
nearly 70 years ago in 1954, as a 
wastewater treatment plant built to 
address health problems associated 
with failing septic tanks in the Santa 
Venetia area. 

So much has changed since then! 
Today, the District has extended 
its service area and improved 
and expanded its facilities, and 
continues to provide first-rate 
wastewater treatment services 
for its 30,000-plus customers. But 
since 1954 it has also evolved and 
changed with the times in other 
ways, now delivering a wider range 
of services to protect public health 
and the environment, engaging 
with the community, and ensuring 
compliance with stringent, ever-
changing regulations.

Far beyond its start as a single-

purpose wastewater treatment 
facility, the District is now recognized 
as a significant, multi-purpose 
regional environmental steward, 
with a commitment to sustainability 
and efficiency.

By utilizing its own solar power 
array to generate electricity, 
the District avoids the need to 
run standard power plants using 
fossil fuels, increasing its energy 
independence and avoiding 
additional greenhouse gas pollution. 

Design 
Underway for 
Multipurpose
Facility 
Building will Function as 
Laboratory, Board Room, and 
Public Education Building

The Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary 
District has taken a significant 
step forward in enhancing its 
environmental and community 
services by awarding an 
architectural design contract to 
Noll & Tam Architects for a new 
Multipurpose Laboratory Building. 

When completed, this facility 
will house not only the District’s 
laboratory — a state-of-the-art 
science center which is key to 
compliance with rigorous state and 
federal water quality regulations 
— but also the District Board of 
Directors’ meeting room and space 
for community engagement and 
education. 

The laboratory will be located 
on the building’s first floor. On 
the second floor, the education 
center and boardroom will serve 
as a location for Board meetings, 
as well as public outreach, hands-
on learning, and community 
meetings. This space is designed to 
foster interaction and education 
about wastewater treatment, 
recycling, and conservation 
efforts, highlighting the District’s 
role in these critical environmental 
initiatives. 

Continued on page 4...

Continued on page 2...

What else was going on in 1954, the year the District was born?

• Actor Denzel Washington, TV show host Oprah Winfrey, comedian 
Jerry Seinfeld, and actor Jackie Chan were born.

• Minimum wage was 75¢ an hour, bread was 12¢ a loaf, a gallon of 
gas was 21¢, a movie ticket was 56¢, the average house cost was 
$10,250, and the average car was $1,700.

• Some of the popular movies were 20,000 Leagues Under the Sea, On 
the Waterfront, and A Star is Born. From Here to Eternity won best film 
at the Academy Awards.

• The Piña Colada was invented in Cuba.
• Prime time television shows included I Love Lucy, The Jackie Gleason 

Show, Dragnet, Lassie, and You Bet Your Life.
• The first Burger King opened in Miami, FL.
• The New York Giants won the World Series.

70
Years!

A
tt

rib
u

tio
n

: J
o

n
 ’

Sh
a

ka
ta

G
a

N
a

i’ 
D

a
vi

s

97



2

The District also produces biogas 
(renewable natural gas) generated 
through the anaerobic digestion 
process at the wastewater 
treatment plant, and uses it to 
generate clean power. Less use of 
standard power grid energy and 
commercial fuel means less use of 
non-renewable fossil fuels — that’s 
a great thing for the environment, 
and for all of us.

With the 2023 completion of 
the Secondary Treatment Plant 
Upgrade and Recycled Water 
Expansion Project, the District’s 
wastewater treatment capacity 
has more than doubled (to 18 
million gallons per day), helping 
protect the environment by 
reducing the potential for overflows 
during storm events. Its production 
capacity of recycled water for non-
potable uses has more than tripled 
(to five million gallons per day), 
which is distributed to Marin Water 
and North Marin Water District for 
use in irrigation, car washes, cooling 
towers, toilet flushing, and other 
non-potable needs that might 
otherwise require use of drinking 
water.

A reclamation area is part of the 
District’s operation, with a 20-acre 
wildlife marsh, 40 acres of storage 
ponds, a 10-acre saltwater marsh, 
20 acres of irrigated landscaping, 
and 200 acres of irrigated pasture. 
The site and its public trails, 
including a portion of the San 

Francisco Bay Trail, is a favorite 
destination for bird watchers, 
walkers, and nature lovers, and 
provides habitat for a variety of 
wildlife. 

The District re-uses biosolids — a 
byproduct of the wastewater 
treatment process — spreading 
them onto a dedicated nine-acre 
area on District property where 
they become part of the soil. While 
this is an approved method of 
disposing of biosolids, the District’s 
goal is to treat them as a resource, 
not as a disposal issue, and is 
exploring ways to beneficially use 
the nutrient value of biosolids.  

To function most effectively and 
productively in the 21st century, 
it’s crucial to ensure collaboration 
and coordination among 
agencies on a local and regional 
basis — this is especially true in 
the sensitive Baylands areas. The 
District has developed partnerships 
and affiliations with a variety of 
agencies, all with the common 

“Recognizing 70 Years of Service” continued from page 1

Check out our new 
website and subscribe 

to email updates!
Our new website went live last 
year, and we’re excited for 
you to take a look. 

www.LGVSD.org

The site is filled with interesting 
information for you to discover, 
including more details about 
many of the topics mentioned 
in this article.

When you go to the website, 
be sure to sign up for the 
District’s email list. You can 
subscribe to receive timely 
news and updates, links to our 
newsletters, or agendas for our 
Board of Directors’ meetings. 
Here’s a direct link to subscribe 
to your selected District emails:

goal of serving the community 
in an environmentally sensitive, 
sustainable, and forward-thinking 
way: Marin Water, North Marin 
Water District, Marin Sanitary 
Service, North Bay Watershed 
Association, Marin/Sonoma 
Vector and Mosquito Control 
District, Zero Waste Marin, and 
North Bay Water Reuse Authority, 
among others. The District also 
has a valued association with 
the Marin County Local Agency 
Formation Commission, an 
agency that promotes and 
coordinates the efficient delivery 
of local government services and 
encourages the preservation of 
open space and agricultural lands. 

Be sure to visit the District’s website 
for more details about how the 
District has evolved from a single-
purpose wastewater treatment 
facility in 1954, to today’s multi-
purpose, forward-thinking entity. 
Learn more at 
LGVSD.org/70-years-proud

Recycled Water Distribution 
Pump Station

Reclamation Area

98



3

Join the Leading Edge of 
Public and Environmental Health: 
Wastewater Management

At its meeting of 
May 2, 2024, the 
Las Gallinas Valley 
Sanitary District Board 
of Directors selected 
Barry Nitzberg to fill a 

vacant seat on the Board, following 
the resignation of a Board member 
earlier this year. Mr. Nitzberg was 
sworn in at a special Board meeting 
on May 6, and the appointment 
is effective until December 2024. 
This seat will be up for election in 
November 2024 to complete the 
remaining two years of the term (to 
December 2026). 

“I’m very grateful to have been 
selected to serve on the Board, 
and I look forward to offering my 
skills and expertise to help this 
organization advance its mission,” 
said Nitzberg. “As a Board member, 
I know that our policy decisions are 
crucial to ensure the District stays 
on track in providing excellent 
wastewater treatment services and 
high-quality recycled water, while 
keeping a focus on protecting the 
environment.” 

Nitzberg has been in the plumbing 
industry for many years, initially 
as a Journeyman Plumber with 
U.A. Local 38, then as a Licensed 
Plumbing Contractor in Marin 
County, followed by employment 
as Senior Territory Manager for 
plumbing products manufacturer 
Moen, Inc. He subsequently joined 
PACE Supply Corp., a wholesale 
supplier of plumbing, water works, 
wastewater, water treatment and 
hydronics. At PACE, an employee-
owned company, Nitzberg served 
as a member of the Board of 
Directors and, until his retirement 
in 2015, held the position of Senior 
Vice President of Sales, Marketing, 
and Organizational Development. 

Nitzberg holds a BA degree in 
Geography. He has been a resident 

The sustained, effective operation 
of wastewater management is 
critical to public health and to the 
protection of our environment. 
The essential role wastewater 
professionals play continues non-
stop regardless of the emergencies 
around us, whether fires, power 
outages, other disasters, or even a 
pandemic — and the many career 
opportunities for skilled wastewater 
treatment plant operators continue 
to grow. 

This is an exciting, expanding, 
and important field of work which 
is experiencing an industry-wide 
demand for skilled treatment plant 
technicians. These professionals 
perform a variety of operational, 
mechanical, and electrical tasks to 
ensure the wastewater treatment 
plant and associated facilities are 
operated and maintained at their 
peak performance levels. 

Throughout the industry, these 
are well-paid jobs, many of which 
require various levels of certification. 
Training is available through 
trade schools, local colleges, and 
universities throughout the state 
and country. Scan the QR codes 
at right to see the wastewater and 
instrumentation programs offered 
by Solano Community College, 
Santa Rosa Junior College, and 

the State Water Resources Control 
Board. Or, explore career paths with 
Baywork (baywork.org) a network 
of water and wastewater agencies 
focused on workforce reliability.

As populations grow and 
environmental regulations continue 
to evolve and expand, more 
water- and wastewater-treatment 
services — including the production 
of recycled water — will be needed 
for the communities they protect. 
New treatment plants, along with 
expansion of existing plants, are 
anticipated to continue to create 
jobs for operators, management, 
and environmental STEM experts.  

The growing field of wastewater 
management has ample 
opportunities for advancement, 
personal growth, and job 
satisfaction, and most positions 
include very good benefits. It’s a 
career opportunity worth exploring!

Barry Nitzberg 
Appointed to LGVSD 
Board of Directors

Continued on page 4...

LGVSD laboratory worker performing pH testing.

Solano CC SRJC

WRCB1 WRCB299



101 Lucas Valley Road, Suite 300, San Rafael, CA 94903
Phone (415) 472-1734  •  Fax (415) 499-7715
www.lgvsd.org

Board of Directors Board Meetings are
Megan Clark
Craig K. Murray 
Barry Nitzberg
Gary Robards 
Crystal J. Yezman

District Administration: Curtis Paxton, General Manager

Presorted
Standard

US Postage

PAID
San Rafael, CA
Permit No. 384

4

ECRWSS – Postal Customer
held at 4:00 PM on
the first and third 
Thursday of each month 
at the District offices.

The District received the following awards and certificates:
• Recycled Water Agency of the Year 2023 (Small Category) from the 

California WateReuse Association
• District Transparency Certificate of Excellence by the Special District 

Leadership Foundation for 2022-2025 in recognition of its outstanding 
efforts to promote transparency and good governance.

• Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for 
2022 was received by Government Finance Officers Association.

Printed on recycled paper using soy-based inks.

The project’s parking lot will 
incorporate solar canopies 
and electric vehicle charging 
stations, reflecting the District’s 
commitment to renewable 
energy and sustainability. These 
features, along with the building’s 
design considerations for ADA 
compliance, energy efficiency, 
and resilience against sea level 
rise and storm surge, underline 
the project’s forward-thinking 
approach.

The award of this contract marks 
the beginning of a project 
poised to elevate the District’s 
wastewater treatment and 
recycling capabilities for its 30,000-
plus customers, and enhance its 
interaction and engagement with 
the community.

Initiated in July 2023, the contract’s 
competitive review process 
concluded with the selection 
of Noll & Tam Architects, a firm 
distinguished by its expertise in 
laboratory design. Vital to this 
firm’s selection is its alignment 
with the District’s values and 
vision. The contract encompasses 

a wide-ranging scope from 
conceptual design to construction 
administration and management, 
demonstrating the project’s 
ambition and scale.

With a construction budget of $10 
million, the Multipurpose Laboratory 
Building project is a significant 
investment in the District’s and 
Marin County’s future, reflecting 
a dedication to innovation, 
sustainability, and public service. 
The design phase is expected to 
span 13 months, with the project’s 
completion targeted for June 2026.

This initiative not only promises to 
enhance LGVSD’s operational 
capabilities but also sets a 
new standard for integrating 
community-focused environmental 
education and sustainable 
practices within public utilities. 
As this project unfolds, it provides 
enhanced laboratory services and 
represents a vital step toward a 
more informed, environmentally 
conscious, and engaged 
community in Marin County.

“Design Underway for Multipurpose Facility” continued from page 1

When done reading 
this newsletter, please 
put it in your blue 
recycling bin with other 
recyclable paper items.

of the District’s service area since 
2013 and is a member of the Santa 
Venetia Neighborhood Association. 
Long a concerned environmentalist, 
Nitzberg co-founded a chapter of 
the American Cetacean Society 
of Marin County, for which he 
coordinated presentations by 
national and international experts 
on the status of whale populations, 
and he personally conducted 
an informational program on the 
California Grey Whale and other 
marine mammals. 

The District’s Board of Directors 
sets policy and makes a variety of 
decisions governing the District’s 
operations of providing effective 
wastewater collection, treatment, 
and recycling services. The 
Board focuses on critical policy 
issues involving budgets and 
funding, operations/infrastructure, 
partnerships, and other vital matters 
which guide the overall success of 
the District. 

“Barry Nitzberg” continued from page 3

100



 

 
 

 

6/20/2024 
 

 General Manager Report 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 5.1 

101



 

 
 

 

6/20/2024 
 

BOARD MEMBER REPORTS 
CLARK 

NBWA Board Committee, CASA Workforce Committee, 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet 
Management Ad Hoc Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc 
Committee, Other Reports 
 

MURRAY 
Marin LAFCO, Flood Zone 6,  Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, 
CASA Energy Committee, Development Ad Hoc Committee, 
SF Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  
 

NITZBERG 
Operations Control Centers Ad Hoc Committee, McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Fleet Management Ad Hoc 
Committee, SF Bay Trail Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
  

ROBARDS 
Gallinas Watershed Council/Miller Creek, NBWRA, 
Engineering Ad Hoc Committee re: STPURWE,  McInnis 
Marsh Ad Hoc Committee, Development Ad Hoc 
Committee, FutureSense Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports  

 
YEZMAN 

Flood Zone 7, CSRMA,  Ad Hoc Engineering Sub-
Committee re: STPURWE, Marin Special Districts 
Association, Biosolids Ad Hoc Committee, Other Reports 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6 

102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



                                                                                  AGENDA ITEM 7A 
                                                                                 DATE: June 20, 2024             

REVISED 06012021 

 
 

BOARD MEMBER 

 MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUEST 
 

 

Date:___________Name:__________________________________________________ 

 

I would like to attend the __________________________________________Meeting 

of _____________________________________________________________________ 

To be held on the ______ day of ___________ from ________ a.m. / p.m. to 

_______day of ___________ from  _________ a.m. / p.m. 

Location of meeting:____________________________________________________ 

Actual meeting date(s):____________________________________________________ 

Meeting Type: (In person/Webinar/Conference)_______________________________ 

Purpose of Meeting:______________________________________________________  

________________________________________________________________________ 

Meeting relevance to District:__________________________________________  

                  YES     NO 

Request assistance from Board Secretary to register for Conference:          

 

Frequency of Meeting: ____________________________________________________ 

 

Estimated Costs of Travel (if applicable):____________________________________ 

 

_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Date submitted to Board Secretary:________________________________________ 

 

Board approval obtained on Date:_________________________________________ 

 

Please submit this form to the Board Secretary no later than 1 week  prior to the 

Board Meeting.  

 

  

129



 

 
 

X:\BOARD\Agenda\Agenda 2024\Agenda Packet\06202024\Board Agenda Item Requests.docx 

6/20/2024 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS 
 

Agenda Item 7B 

□ Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

 Verbal Report 

□ Presentation 

 

130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



 

 
 

 

6/20/2024 
 

CLOSED SESSION 

 Separate Item to be distributed at Board Meeting 

□ Separate Item to be distributed prior to Board Meeting 

□ Verbal Report  

□ Presentation 

 

AGENDA ITEM 9 

152


	Agenda 06202024
	1 Public Comment
	2 Public Hearing for Budget Report and Financials
	ASR Proposed Budget  6-20-24
	Proposed Budget 2024-2025 for 6-20-24 - budget report
	Proposed Budget 2024-2025 for 6-20-24 - financials v2
	0_Balance Statement
	1_Revenue
	2_Budget Summary
	3_O&M Compact
	4_Debt Service
	5_Reserves
	6_Restricted
	7_Capital Outlay
	8_CIP 7-Year


	3 Resolutions for 2024-2025 Budget
	4A Minutes 05302024 and 06062024
	4B Check Warrant List
	4C Board Compensation for May 2024
	4D Clark WateReuse Conference Request
	4E Nitzberg CASA Conference Request
	4F Nitzberg CSDA Conference Request
	4G NItzberg SDLF Academy Request
	4H Contract for Lab Information Management System Software
	4I Award of Contract Biosolids Land Application Services 2024
	4J Summer 2024 Newsletter
	5.1 General Manager Report
	6 Board Member Reports
	6.2A Murray Other Reports
	7A Board Member Meeting Attendance Request
	7B Board Agenda Item Requests
	8 Various Industry Articles
	9 Closed Session



